CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE

I.S.B.N.

THESES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE

National Library of Canada
Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRG 1976, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE



National Library Bibliothèque nationale of Canada du Canada Canadian Theses Division Division des thèses canadie pes Ottawa, Canada K1A ON4 63971 PERMISSION TO MICROFILM Please print or type — Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier Full Name of Author - Nom complet de l'auteur Vonathan Date of Birth — Date de naissance August . & England Permanent Address — Résidence fixe 10736 71 Ave Edmonton Alla Title of Thesis — Titre de la thèse

The Effects of Positive, Mixed and Negative. Modelling in Teaching Empathy

University - Université

Degree for which thesis was presented — Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée

Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade

Name of Supervisor - Nom du directeur de thèse

le les

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

22 April 1983

Signature

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

The Effects of Positive, Mixed, and Negative Modelling in Teaching Empathy



(C)

Jonathan G. Eustace

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF Doctor of Philosophy

IN

Counselling Psychology

Department of Educational Psychology

Edmonton, Alberta Spring 1983

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR

Jonathan G. Eustace

TITLE OF THESIS

The Effects of Positive, Mixed, and

Negative Modelling in Teaching Empathy

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED Doctor of Philosophy YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED Spring 1983

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

PERMANENT ADDRESS:

Edmonlos Alberta TGE OXB

31st March 1983

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled The Effects of Positive, Mixed, and

Negative Modelling in Teaching Empathy submitted by Jonathan G. Eustace in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Counselling Psychology.

Supervisor

External Examiner

Date. March 31, 1983

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents

Tom and Ann Eustace

who have supported me through

all my life experiences:

ABSTRACT

The teaching of behavioral skills using modelling or imitation as the instructional approach has found wide application in the teaching of interpersonal communication skills. Typically, the behaviors to be learned have been demonstrated by a model and then imitated by the trainees. In other applications both poor examples and good examples of the behaviors to be learned have been modelled so that the trainees could discriminate between the appropriate and inappropriate behaviors. The effects of these different modelling presentation methods on skill performance, conceptual understanding, generalization, and maintenance were investigated in this study.

The conditions investigated were: (a) the modelling of only positive, high quality examples of the behavior to be learned (positive modelling), (b) the modelling of both positive, high quality examples and negative, undesirable low quality examples (contrast modelling), (c) the modelling of only negative, low quality examples of the behavior to be learned (negative modelling), and (d) a control group for which the desired behavior was described.

Eighty-four undergraduate education students were randomly assigned to one of four conditions. The three experimental groups received taped training programs teaching the counselling skill of responding empathically. Three measures were used to evaluate learning. One measure involved ratings of the subjects' verbal responses to taped

client statements to assess "performance" ability. The subjects were given a written test to determine their level of "conceptual understanding"; this required the rank ordering of various empathic responses. Finally, trainees' responses from a simulated interview were rated to determine "generalizability" of learning. A delayed post-test including all three measures was administered seven days after the treatment to determine maintenance of the skill.

Results of the study indicated that the positive only and the contrast modelling groups were significantly superior to the negative only modelling and control groups on all measures. On the initial and delayed conceptual measures, and on the initial measure of generalization the contrast modelling group was significantly better than the positive only modelling group. The negative only modelling group was significantly higher than the control group the initial and delayed testings of both the performance and conceptual measures. For all treatment groups the level of skill was maintained at the same level after a delay of seven days. These results suggested that contrast modelling was superior to positive only modelling in promoting a conceptual understanding of the skill and in enhancing generalization of the skill to new situations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To the many people who have helped me complete this thesis I would like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude.

I am very grateful to my supervisor Dr. Peter Calder for his constant support and his invaluable guidance without which this project would have been a much more arduous task.

Special thanks are due to the members of my examining committee, Dr. C. Oh, Dr. R. Short, Dr. H. Zingle, and to my external examiner, Dr. A. Ivey for their thorough and constructive evaluation of my research.

Thanks also to Arlene Goble, Aisha Alladin, and Sandra Kimura who contributed time as my research assistants during busy periods in their own lives.

Finally, I extend my deepest appreciation to my wife doy who not only supported me emotionally and financially through the whole endeavour but also gave many hours of her own time for numerous tasks that were necessary for the completion of this thesis. As a post script I would also like to thank my daughter Laura for arriving at just the right time.

	1948 - Hanne Maria, 1860 - Hanne Maria, 1861 - 1870 (1862), 18 <mark>72</mark> - 1874 (1862), 1862 (1862), 1862 (1862), 1863 1863 - Hanne Maria, 1864 (1862), 1864 (1864), 1864 (1864), 1864 (1864), 1864 (1864), 1864 (1864), 1864 (1864)	
	Table of Contents	
Ghapt		Page
	I. INTRODUCTION	1
	A. The Nature of the Problem	
	B. Purpose of the Study	
	I. LITERATURE REVIEW	8
	A. Modelling	
	Modelling Presentation Methods	11
	Preliminary Research Project	
	Negative Only Modelling	
	Summary	
	B. Generalization and Maintenance	
	Literature on Generalization and Maintenance	
	Cognitive Factors	.24
	C. Specific Considerations in the Current Study	. 26
	The Population	. 26
	The Skill to be Taught	
	The Performance Measure	. 29
	The Conceptual Measure	.30
	D. Hypotheses	.33
111	사고 하고 있는 이 되었다고 되다 있는 것으로 가는 것은 사람들에 다른 아이들에 다른 아이들을 때문에 되었다. 그는 사고 이 나는 아이들은 아이들이 다른 사람들이 되었다.	
	A. Subjects	a
	(B. Experimental Design and Treatment Conditions	
	C. The Training Program	Carrier Section
	Positive Model Tape	

Contrast Model Tape	
Negative Model: Tape	40
Control Tape	41
D. Tape Production Considerations	41
E. Procedure	43
F. Dependent Measures	44
Performance Measure	44
Conceptual Measure	45
Interview Measure	46
IV. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	49
A. Reliability of the Judges	
B. Treatment Effects	
Performance Measure,	55
Interview Measure	
Conceptual Measure	
Summary	65
C. Discussion	66
Program Effectiveness	66
Generalization of Treatment	
Maintenance	71
V. Summary and Conclusions	
A Overview	
B. Conclusions and Implications	
Limitations	
Suggestions for Further Research	
REFERENCES	
Appendix T	
Rating Scale Information	93

Appendix II	the Conti	ast Program	95
Appendix III			
Appendix IV Conceptual	lests: Forms	A and B	.,104

		•
	B.	

사이트 전 경험 보고 있는 것 같아. 하나는 사람들은 사람들은 사람들은 사람들이 없는 것이다.	•
List of Jables	
	PAGE
마음하다 이 마음 아들은 사용을 들어 있다. 그리고 하는 것은 사용을 받는 것을 받는다. 나는 사용을 받는다.	FAGE
Correlations of the Ratings of Individual Judges for	
Each Conditions.	50
Group Means and Standard Deviations, for Individual	
사람들은 아이들은 이 아이들의 아름다면 하다를 막게 하고 있는 것을 수 있습니다. 아이들은 아이들은 아이들은 이 등을 하는데	51
이 사람들은 사람들은 사람들은 사람들은 학생들이 가장 사람들은 사람들이 가는 사람들은 학생들은 사람들이 가장 가장 하는데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른데 다른	53
Group Means and Standard Deviations.	54
Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated	
그 있다면 불장이 되었는데 가는 이 경우 현실이 되었는데 하는 살이 없는 수 없다면 있는데 보다는 것이 하는데 하다 하나 없다.	
Performance Measure.	56
Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated	
Measures, T Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts for the	
Interview Measure.	59
Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated	
Measures, I Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts for the	
Conceptual Measure.	63
등이 있는 그는 것이 되었다. 이 경기에 가장 있다면 하는 사람들은 사회 사용을 보다 한다. 이 경기 - 사용도 등 가장 그는 등 지수를 하는 것이 되었다. 그 것이 되었다. 그 사용을 하는 것이 되었다.	
는 사람들이 가는 하는 것이 되는 것이 되었다. 이번 이 등을 받는 것은 사람들은 것을 하는 것이 되었다. 기본 기계 전 시간 기본	
도 있다. 그 사람들은 그런 그들을 수 있었다. 그 한 사람들은 사람들이 되었다. 그는 그를 모르는 것이 되었다. 그렇게 되었다. 그는 사람들은 사람들이 있는 것이 그렇게 되었다. 그 사람들은 기를 모르는 것이다.	
	Correlations of the Ratings of Individual Judges for Each Conditions. Group Means and Standard Deviations for Individual Judges on the Performance and Interview Measures. Mean Inter-rater Reliability Coefficients. Group Means and Standard Deviations. Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated Measures, I Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts for the Performance Measure. Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated Measures, I Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts for the Interview Measure. Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated Measures, I Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts for the Interview Measure.

I. INTRODUCTION

Modelling or learning through imitation of others has occupied a dominant place within the area of instructional psychology. The efficacy of modelling as a powerful method for teaching mew behaviors has been well substantiated (Bandura, 1969; Flanders, 1968). Consequently, the application of modelling techniques in a wide variety of practical situations has occured. Besides its utilization in psychotherapy, it has also been used extensively in training programs. Some of the areas of application have included: teacher training, counsellor training, assertiveness training, and social skills training. The present study focused on the modelling components in communications skills training programs, however, the significance of the findings may be applicable to other areas utilizing modelling techniques.

In an article reviewing the training and supervising of counsellors, Bernier (1980) noted that three basic training approaches could be identified. He described these as the "supervisor as therapist" prientation advanced by psychoanalytic practitioners, the "body of knowledge" model in which supervisors serve as expert instructors and teach didactically, and thirdly the "performance skills orientation" in which the supervisor trains counsellor behaviors using a competency based model. It is her this

third approach that modelling techniques have been specifically utilized.

The performance skills orientation places particular emphasis on teaching specific skills for helping. A number of models and programs have been developed to teach these skills (Carkhuff, 1969a; Danish & Hauer, 1973; Ivey, 1971; Kagan, 1972). The term "microcounselling" has been used by Ivey (1971) to describe his approach that incorporates many behavioral training components in a systematic, logically programmed sequence. These training components have most often included: instructions, videotaped or audiotaped modelling of the skill, practice, rehearsal, feedback for the trainees, and an evaluation of performance ability.

Two major limitations of the microcounselling approach have been identified by a number of reviewers (Ford, 1979; Ivey & Authier, 1978; Thelen, Fry, Fehrenbach, & Frautschi, 1979). They have suggested that generalization to new situations and the maintenance over time of the skills taught has not been adequately demonstrated. Further evaluation of generalization and maintenance has been strongly recommended by these authors.

The utilization of microcounselling types of programs in the area of counsellor training has resulted in the generation of substantial research that has investigated their overall efficacy and the effectiveness of their various components. Research on the behavioral training components has generally shown instructions, modelling,

feedback, programmed texts, and behavioral rehearsal to be effective in promoting skill learning (Ford, 1979; Matarazzo, 1978). Modelling has been found to be one of the more important components in terms of the programs? effectiveness (Ford, 1979). A large number of studies have investigated specific aspects of the modelling component in training programs as evidenced by a recent review in this area (Thelen, et al., 1979). Variables studied have included model characteristics, model consequences, media of presentation, and length of presentation.

One aspect of the modelling process has been identified by Ford (1979) as the message component. Research in this area, he suggested, should investigate effective ways in which the message can be presented. Generally, one of two methods for presenting the modelled message have been used in training programs. One of these involves modelling positive (good) examples only of the skill to be learned and in the other, both positive (good) and negative (poor) examples are modelled to provide a contrast. A third possible alternative is the presentation of poor or negative examples only. In the present study these three methods are referred to as: positive only modelling or POM, contrast modelling or CM, and negative only modelling or NOM.

The contrast modelling method has been recommended by Ivey (1971) because it promotes discrimination and identification of the appropriate behaviors. A number of training programs have utilized this method with positive

results. Other training programs have utilized positive only modelling and found it to be effective (Calder, 1980; Cormier & Cormier, 1976; O'Toole, 1979).

Little research has been conducted to determine if one presentation method is superior to the other. In one study Alssid and Hutchison (1977) hypothesized that POM would be the preferable method because the negative examples in the CM method may interfere with learning. However, they did not find significant differences between CM and POM on measures of skill performance. In another study, Eskedal (1975) found that CM was significantly superior to POM on measures of cognitive learning. These results are consistent with the concept formation literature which suggests that both examples and non-examples of the concept being learned have to be present for concept formation to occur (Tennyson & Park, 1980). No studies have investigated the effects of CM and POM on both the level of skill performance and on the level of conceptual learning.

Recently, interest has been shown in the role of cognitive factors and attentional processes in the learning of new skills through modelling (Thelen, et al., 1979). Some studies have found that by introducing cognitive components, generalizability of the modelled behaviors to multiple situations and the maintenance of these skills over time could be enhanced (Berg & Stone, 1980; Derry & Stone, 1979; Eskedal, 1975; Glass, Gottman, & Shmurak, 1976; Richardson & Stone, 1981). These results suggested that an approach that

acknowledges cognitive processes and incorporates current cognitive learning techniques into skill training will promote generalization and retention more effectively than approaches that focus on behavior alone.

Since modelling techniques have, been found to be one of the most effective components of the skills training programs, it would appear that more systematic investigation of specific modelling presentation methods that incorporate cognitive factors may result in the development of programs with enhanced generalization and maintenance of the skills taught.

A. The Nature of the Problem

Jo date, little research has investigated the effects of specific modelling presentation methods. The studies that have been conducted were not comprehensive and the results were inconclusive. Investigations that have used performance of the skill as their dependent measure have generally found no difference between CM and POM treatments. Studies that have used cognitive learning or conceptual understanding as their dependent measure have found CM to be superior to POM. A third alternative method, negative only modelling, has not been investigated at all. It would appear that although positive modelling may be effective in teaching behavioral aspects of a skill, contrast modelling contributes to the learning of conceptual, cognitive aspects as well as behavioral aspects of the skill.

Failure to demonstrate generalizability of skills learned and their maintenance over time has been identified as a major problem of the skills training programs. The results of a number of recent studies have suggested that the incorporation of cognitive components into training programs may promote greater generalization and retention. Some of the cognitive components incorporated into these programs are similar in nature to the learning conditions provided by contrast modelling.

It was hypothesized by the present author that when comparatively complex behavioral skills are to be learned such as the communication skill of responding empathically, a training component that utilizes contrast modelling may be more effective than a training component utilizing positive only modelling. Specifically, where both methods may be effective in teaching the ability to perform the behavior, the contrast model may produce a greater conceptual understanding. Secondly, it is suggested that if a greater conceptual understanding is attained then generalization of the skill to new situations, and maintenance of the skill over time will be more likely to occur.

B Purposé of the Study

The present study investigated the relative effectiveness of three different modelling presentation methods in teaching behavioral performance and conceptual understanding of the communication skill of responding

empathically. The different modelling presentation methods compared were: positive only modelling, contrast modelling, and negative only modelling. The study also examined the efficacy of each of the presentation methods in promoting generalization of the skills to new situations. Finally the maintenance or retention of the skill over time for each presentation method was measured.

In the area of instructional and training psychology there has been a trend towards the identification of specific components of the instructional process, with the purpose of applying current learning theory to training. approaches and systems. The present study addresses the use of modelling or imitation in the instructional process. Two related issues are of particular interest. The first is the effect that different modelling presentation methods may have on performance and conceptual understanding of the skill being taught. The second issue of interest is the effect that different modelling presentation methods may have on the maintenance of the skill over time and generalization of the skill to new situations. In this chapter, the research relating to these two issues is reviewed. The chapter is organized in the following manner: (a) a review of literature relating to modelling and modelling presentation methods, (b) a review of literature relating to generalization and maintenance, and (c) a review of literature relating to specific issues in the study.

A. Modelling

The term "model" has been defined by Rosenthal and Bandura (1978) as "any stimulus array so organized that an observer can extract and act on the main information

conveyed by environmental events without needing to first perform overtly," (p. 622). Although a model can be animate or inanimate, models used in the area of skills training have typically been humans performing in vivo demonstrations or else recordings of such demonstrations.

In the literature and research investigating modelling effects, prime emphasis has been placed on the efficacy of modelling in teaching behaviors and skills. Modelling, combined with instructions and rehearsal has been shown to be an effective method for teaching various behavioral skills (Ford, 1979, Matarazzo, 1978; Thelen, et al., 1979). The criteria by which this effectiveness has been assessed has usually involved the measurement of behavioral performance. However, little interest has been shown to date in other types of learning that occur during the modelling process. Bandura (1977) has delineated some of the other competencies that the modelling process can develop. As well as motor acts, people learn "judgmental orientations, linguistic styles, conceptual schemes, information processing strategies, cognitive operations, and standards of conduct, (p. 42). Typically, in the area of training, modelling has been treated as a unidimensional phenomenon with unidimensional outcomes, these being performance of motor skills and behaviors. One focus of the present study will be on other competencies learned during the modelling process, specifically conceptual learning.

While in theory, the modelling process has been construed as a complex phenomenon (Bandura, 1977), in practice (in the training research) some component processes in modelling have been neglected. In discussing this issue, Ford (1979) has defined four component variables of the modelling process. These are: the message, the valence, the model, and the medium.

Message variables include the presence or absence of attentional cueing, the demonstration of effective and/or ineffective behavior, and the different presentations of target behaviors and contexts. The <u>valence</u> refers to the meaningfulness of the modelling to the viewer and is determined by the consequences (positive or negative) subsequent to engaging in the target behavior. This has been labelled "vicarious reinforcement" by Bandura (1969).

Model variables include certain model characteristics that the viewer does or does not value, such as status, sex, age, or physical attraction. The different media for presenting modelling in training include: live demonstrations, videotape, audiotape, and written descriptions.

While some of these variables have been investigated intensively, others have not been studied in much detail. The present study investigated two of these neglected variables, the first being a process variable and the second being an outcome variable. The process variable involved the demonstration of effective and/or ineffective behaviors and

has been called the <u>modelling presentation method</u> in this study. The second involved the types of learning that occur when behavioral skills are being taught by modelling. The following sections review the literature regarding these two variables and the **B**elationship between them.

Modelling Presentation Methods

The term "modelling presentation method" refers to the way in which the message is presented or modelled to the viewer. In outlining his microcounselling approach, Ivey (1971) described one modelling presentation method. He recommended that both appropriate and inappropriate demonstrations of the event to be learned be modelled. In this way, he argued, it is "possible to identify the specific behaviors which comprise effective demonstrations of the behaviors in question, " (Ivey & Authier, 1978, p. 309): A number of training programs have utilized this approach which shows trainees both good and poor models with explicit cueing to teach the trainees to accurately discriminate between the two quality levels (DiMattia & Zimmer, 1972; Eskedal, 1975; Frankel, 1971; Richardson & Stone, 1981). In the present study, this approach is called contrast modelling (CM). However, many other training studies have demonstrated only appropriate therapist behaviors (Calder, 1980; Cormier & Cormier, 1976; O'Toole, 1979; Robinson, Froehle, & Kurpius, 1979a). This has been called positive only modelling (POM) in the present study.

The empirical evidence for favoring one method over the other has been equivocal. The following two sections review studies which investigate these two presentation methods.

Research Supporting Positive Only Modelling.

In one study addressing this issue, Alssid and Hutchison (1977) compared a group shown a good (positive) video model, a group given both a good and poor (contrast) video model, and a control group. All the groups were taught the skill "asking open-ended questions". It was hypothesized that positive video modelling would result in greater learning than a contrast video model. This hypothesis was based on a research study in the area of school teaching (Berliner, 1969) which found that groups of teacher trainees viewing a positive video model performed better in transfer to new situations than groups viewing a contrast video model. Berliner suggested that negative modelling may have actually interfered with learning. Berliner's results however did not find significant differences between the two groups on post-test measures of the skill being taught.

Similarly, in the Alssid and Hutchison study, no significant difference was found between the two methods of presentation although only the positive model group was significantly different from the control group in terms of gains made from pre- to post-test.

Alssid and Hutchison concluded that their results supported the hypothesis that positive only modelling resulted in greater learning than contrast modelling and

that the latter method may have actually interfered with learning at an introductory level of training. However, inspection of their group means data shows that the contrast model group actually performed at a higher level than the positive only model group on the post-test measures. Analysis of post-test measures only would likely show that both experimental groups were significantly better than the control group. Furthermore, frequency data taken on asking closed-ended questions showed that the contrast model group improved more than the positive only model group. The difficulty in demonstrating significance in this study could likely have been due to the small number of subjects in each group (n = 9). It was felt that a more conservative conclusion would have been that no significant differences were found between the two methods.

The major arguments made by researchers in favor of positive only modelling could be summarized as follows: (a) positive only modelling teaches performance skills more efficiently than contrast modelling, and (b) the inappropriate model examples in the contrast modelling approach may interfere with learning by teaching the inappropriate skill. It would appear however, that there is not unequivocal support for these arguments in the literature.

Research Supporting Contrast Modelling:

Although no literature is available that directly supports contrast modelling, support can be found in related

studies: In investigating the effects of modelling on the cognitive learning of counselling techniques, Eskedal (1975) compared a group receiving modelling with attentional variables, a group receiving positive only modelling, a control group with attentional variables, and a control only group. The attentional variables consisted of verbal cues by a commentator identifying appropriate and inappropriate empathy responses (the skill being taught) made by the model. On a measure of cognitive learning, both treatment groups were significantly better than the control groups and the treatment group with attentional cues was significantly superior to the positive only modelling group. This study supported the use of attentional cues with modelling to enhance cognitive learning of empathy.

In a study of a different nature, imitation was used to correct children's spelling errors (Kauffman, Hallahan, Haas, Brame, & Boren, 1978). In this study, imitating the children's errors and then showing correct models was found to be a better method for teaching spelling than showing correct models only. It was suggested that contrast examples helped focus the children's attentions on the specific ways in which the incorrect response differed from the correct one.

Both of these studies exphasized the use of contrast modelling for teaching cognitive or conceptual learning. To examine the validity of this assumption, the following section looks briefly at some of the literature on concept-

formation.

Concept Formation

Much of the conventional concept attainment research does not address the learning of concepts per se but investigates rule and attribute learning (Horton & Turnage, 1976). However, Mervis and Rosch (1981) and Rosch and Mervis (1975) have developed a model relating to the formation of concepts. They proposed that categories (or concepts) develop around a prototype or central example of the category. The learner generalizes from a prototype, which bears a strong similarity to class members, to other examples. From a prototype which bears little similarity to class members, the learner discriminates non-examples. It is generally accepted in this and other concept formation theories, that the presence of examples and non-examples is essential for concept formation in the absence of other information (Tennyson & Park, 1980).

In one of the numerous studies aimed at demonstrating this, Tennyson (1973) compared four conditions containing examples and non-examples and four conditions in which the non-examples were excluded. He hypothesized that the removal of the non-examples would eliminate any observable learning of the concept. Random response patterns obtained on the post-test for the groups from which the non-examples had been excluded supported this hypothesis. The subjects failed to acquire the concept when presented with examples alone. Tennyson concluded that without non-examples, concept.

learning is incomplete, even when divergent and easy to difficult examples are provided. These concept acquisition studies were carefully controlled analogue type research and the concepts taught were designed to be easily defined, therefore, the applicability of these findings to practical teaching situations should be made with caution.

If the findings of these experimental studies are applicable to actual teaching situations, it would follow that including positive and negative examples (examples and non-examples) in a modelling sequence would allow the trainees to discriminate between which of the dimensions of the material presented are relevant and critical, and which are not. This literature would support the hypothesis that contrast modelling enhances conceptual learning of the skill being presented.

Preliminary Research Project

On the basis of the literature reviewed here, a pilot research project was conducted (Eustace, 1981). This study investigated the differential effects of two modelling presentation methods, positive only modelling and contrast modelling. The purposes of conducting this pilot study were to: (a) determine the feasibility of producing taped skills training programs that utilized POM in one condition and CM in the other, (b) compare CM and POM on measures of performance and on measures of conceptual understanding, and (c) develop a test to measure conceptual understanding of the skill being taught.

Thirty undergraduate education students were randomly assigned to either a POM treatment condition, a CM treatment condition, or a control group. The two treatment groups received audiotaped training programs (either POM or CM) teaching the communication skill of responding empathically.

The results of this pilot study indicated that, on the performance measure, both treatment groups were significantly better than the control group. On the conceptual measure, only the CM group was significantly better than the control group. There were no significant differences between the two experimental groups on either of the measures.

These results supported the hypothesis that CM teaches conceptual understanding but were inconclusive regarding its superiority to POM in doing this. More conclusive results might be obtained by a study utilizing a larger sample, by utilizing improved programs and measures based on knowledge gained from this pilot study, and by investigating other possible modelling presentation methods.

Negative Only Modelling

Up to this point, only two modelling presentation methods have been considered, POM and CM. Another alternative is also possible, that is, the modelling of poor, or negative only examples (NOM).

NOM) was conducted by Perry (1975). She compared a high empathy model group with a low empathy model group on

performance measures and on an actual interview performance measure. The high empathy model group showed significantly higher levels of empathy on the written performance measures, but no difference was found on the interview measure. Significant in this study was the fact that the low level empathy group subjects were told that what they were hearing were high empathy examples. Had they known that these examples were of how not to respond, their performance might have been substantially improved.

In a similar study (Pierce, Carkhuff, & Berenson, 1967) trainees were exposed to either a high functioning counsellor or a low functioning counsellor. The group exposed to the high functioning counsellor showed significantly superior counselling skills to the group exposed to the low functioning counsellor. Again, had the trainees known that the low functioning counsellor's behaviors were inappropriate, they might have been able to improve their performances. When using good and bad examples it would seem to be important to include cues for the trainees that clearly differentiate good and poor examples.

In practice, it would not be reasonable to construct a training program consisting of negative examples only. However, in investigating modelling presentation methods there are two reasons for including an NOM group where the subjects are aware that these are examples of how not to behave. Firstly, if an NOM group were not included, it could be argued that any differences between the POM and the CM

groups might be due only to the addition of the NOM factor in the CM condition. Thus, it could not be argued that the difference was due to the contrast provided by the combination of positive and negative examples in the CM group.

Secondly, the effects of having an NOM component in a program are unknown. Researchers favoring POM approaches have argued that negative modelling interferes with learning and would therefore expect than an NOM group would be worse, or no better; than a control group. On the other hand, it could be argued that an NOM group would be superior to a control group because the negative examples provide information on how not to respond, eliminating some of the possible response alternatives that would be available to the control group.

For these reasons, it was considered appropriate to include an NOM group in a study investigating modelling presentation methods.

Summary

Proponents of the CM approach have argued that this method permits identification and discrimination of the specific behaviors which comprise the appropriate and inappropriate demonstrations, thus leading to greater learning. Contrary to this, proponents of the POM method have argued that including negative examples interferes with learning. It seems clear that this issue has not been adequately resolved empirically. The studies that have

addressed this issue cannot be meaningfully compared because of a number of methodological differences. The studies supporting POM utilized measures of behavioral performance, whereas the studies supporting CM used measures of cognitive whereas the studies not investigating this comparison, but using one of the two methods, have shown that both methods successfully teach performance of the skill.

The review of some of the concept formation literature would suggest that the inclusion of both positive examples and negative, or non-examples, are necessary for concept learning to occur. The preliminary research project conducted by the present author lent support to this hypothesis. In reviewing the literature regarding NOM, it was decided that inclusion of such a group was necessary.

On the basis of this literature, the following questions were proposed:

- 1. Will a CM group score higher than a POM group on a measure of conceptual understanding.
- Will an NOM group score higher than a control group on both a performance and a conceptual measure.
 The following section discusses the second major issue to be investigated by the present study.

B. Generalization and Maintenance

A number of limitations to the microcounselling approach to training have been suggested (Ford, 1979; Ivey & Authier, 1978). One limitation concerns generalization of

the skill taught to new situations. While mastery of the skills faught has usually been demonstrated in experimental situations, only in a few-studies have the skills been shown to generalize well to actual practice (Ivey & Authier, 1978; Thelen, et al., 1979). Only a small percentage of the studies reviewed by Thelen, et al. (1979) actually assessed generalization at all. These authors stressed that more generalization measures that appraise the subjects behaviors in more naturalistic settings need to be taken.

Similar problems have been found with the <u>maintenance</u> over time of the skills faught. In a review of the literature, Ford (1979) reported that only six of forty relevant microskills studies assessed skill maintenance at long-term followup. Any research finding regarding immediate measures would be significantly more valuable if generalization to new situations and maintenance over time could be also demonstrated. Generalization and maintenance was the second major issue addressed by the present study. The following section reviews some of the literature which has investigated generalization and maintenance in training programs.

Literature on Generalization and Maintenance

Generalization has usually been assessed by measuring trainees' performance during an actual or simulated therapeutic interview. To determine the Nevel of maintenance, measures have typically been repeated after durations of five days to six months following training.

In a study by Moreland, Ivey, & Phillips (1973) a microcounselling training approach was compared with a traditional training approach using second year medical students. Six counselling skills were taught and subjects were asked to do pre and post training interviews with real patients to assess generalization of the training. The results showed that while both groups became better interviewers, the microcounselling group improved more than the comparison group.

Haase, DiMattia, and Guttman (1972) conducted a one year follow-up study with the same paraprofessional subjects who had been taught microcounselling skills in an earlier study (Haase & DiMattia, 1970). The paraprofessionals at that time were working in counselling situations and were not receiving training or close supervision. They found that non-verbal communication skills and expression of feeling had been maintained at an improved level. Verbal following and reflection of feeling ratings had regressed, although they were higher than pre-training levels. The authors suggested that those skills not in use on the job are likely to be forgotten.

In a similar study, Gluckstern (1973) trained paraprofessionals in microcounselling skills. The trainees worked actively with clients and took part in monthly follow-up training sessions. The level of performance was still maintained after six months. Guttman and Haase (1972) investigated the generalization of attending skills from

training to actual therapy sessions. Results showed that the significant increments made in training decreased to some extent during the first week of counselling, but increased again by the third counselling session. Levels of performance in the counselling sessions did not, however, reach post-training levels.

In a comprehensive study of the maintenance of trained skills as used in actual therapy sessions, Spooner and Stone (1977) measured frequency of counselling skills used by counsellor trainees at the end of the training course, during the practicum, and again three months after they were working as counsellors. They found that the more complex skills were often not maintained after training was completed. Other skills such as reflection, interpretation, and confrontation were maintained at the same or slightly lower level.

Although these studies have shown that some skills taught by training programs did generalize and were maintained, on the whole, support for generalization and maintenance has not been strong (Ford 1979). This has partially been due to the lack of studies evaluating these issues. Various suggestions have been made on how to improve generalization and maintenance by such means as increasing practice time, providing follow-up practice programs, giving follow-up training in new situations, providing workbooks, and focussing on cognitive factors such as attentional and retentional processes (Ivey & Authier, 1978; Richardson &

Stone, 1981). The effects of cognitive factors relates to the present study and is examined in the following section.

<u>Cognitive Factors</u>

Counsellor trainers with a cognitive behavioral perspective have suggested that a focus on cognition in modelling would facilitate generalization and retention (Eskedal, 1975; Stone, 1980). This is based on the assumption that "a method that incorporates cognitive strategies and rules as well as discrete skills will foster generalization (situations) and retention as opposed to a singular focus on discrete skills", (Richardson & Stone; 1981). A number of studies have lent support to this hypothesis (Berg & Stone, 1980; Derry & Stone, 1979; Eskedal, 1975; Glass, Gottman, & Shmurak, 1976). Cognitive factors investigated to date have included the use of: cognitive adjunctive procedures (Richardson & Stone, 1981), the use of attentional cues (Eskedal, 1975), and the use of cognitivé béhavior modification techniques to promote retention (Derry & Stone, 1979).

One study examined the generalization effects of three methods of counsellor training: cognitive behavioral, behavioral, and programmed learning. The behavioral and programmed learning groups received traditional microcounselling training teaching reflection of feeling and confrontation. The cognitive behavioral group emphasized cognitive strategies as well. The cognitive strategies were based on Meichenbaum's self-instructional model. On

follow-up measures taken during an actual interview four weeks after treatment, the cognitive behavioral group demonstrated significantly better skill performance than the programmed learning group. This was the only significant difference found between groups (Richardson & Stone, 1981).

Similar results demonstrating the efficacy of cognitive components in training programs were obtained by Berg and Stone (1980), Derry and Stone (1979), Eskedal (1975), and Glass, et al. (1976). Thus, there are indications that approaches which incorporate cognitive learning techniques into skill training may promote generalization and retention more effectively than approaches which focus on behavior alone.

On the basis of this research the assumption was made that a training approach that improves cognitive or conceptual understanding would also promote generalization and retention, the rationale being that students who have developed a better conceptual understanding of the skill would be able to apply it more effectively in different situations and would be able to remember it better over a period of time. A major hypothesis in the present study was that contrast modelling would teach conceptual or cognitive understanding of the skill being taught more effectively than POM or NOM. If this hypothesis was supported, it was suggested that the CM group would be superior to the other groups on measures of generalization and maintenance. Thus, two reasons exist for assessing generalization and

maintenance in this study: (a) to determine the overall effectiveness of the present study's training programs in enhancing generalization and maintenance as recommended by Thelen, et al. (1979), and (b) to determine the differential effects of the treatment programs in enhancing generalization and maintenance.

C. Specific Considerations in the Current Study

To evaluate the issues raised in the preceding literature review, three training programs were developed to teach a specific communication skill. Three measures were used to assess the effectiveness of each of the programs in teaching the target skill. The following sections discuss two specific considerations in the current study: the target population, and the nature and assessment of the skill being taught.

The Population

The target population for the present study was teachers in training. Although empathy has traditionally been associated with psychotherapy and counselling, there has been a substantial emphasis placed on the need for educators to be trained in affective and interpersonal processes (Rogers, 1969).

A number of studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of empathy training for teachers. Ivey and Rollin (1972) developed a curriculum in human relations training for teachers in training. This curriculum utilized a

microcounselling approach to teach a variety of communication skills including attending behaviors and responding empathically. Similar programs have been developed for teachers by other trainers (Fraser & Vitro, 1975; Goud, 1975; Hawn, 1977; Kerrebroch, 1971; Sweeney, Austin & Engel, 1981).

There is also evidence to suggest that training in empathy can increase the effectiveness of teachers. Dixon and Morse (1961) reported that student teachers who had "high" empathy were rated by students and by supervising teachers as superior to those who had "low" empathy. Aspy (1969) found that levels of empathy shown by third-grade teachers in the classroom were positively related to the cognitive growth of their students as measured by the Stanford Achievment Test. Other studies have also shown a positive relationship between high teacher empathy and student progress (Harbach & Asbury, 1976; Lewis, Lovel), & Jesse, 1965). This differature would suggest that students can benefit through improved learning environments from teachers who have had training in empathy and human relations. It has been suggested that teaching counselling skills assists teachers in listening more effectively to students and in developing a more facilitative teacher-student relationship (Ivey & Authier, 1978). <u>The Skill to be Taught</u>

The communication skill taught by the training programs in this study was that of responding empathically. The

choice of this skill was based on the following points: (a) empathy training has been shown to have a number of benefits for teachers and their students in the school environment (Aspy, 1969), (b) responding empathically is a communication skill shown to be related to positive client outcomes in psychotherapy (Barrett-Lennard, 1981; Parloff, Waskow, & Wolfe, 1978), (c) empathy is seen as an important relationship variable across various theoretical approaches (Orlinsky & Howard, 1978), and (d) considerable interest has been shown in empathic responding in the training of counsellors as evidenced by the large number of training studies in this area (Lambert, DeJulio, & Stein, 1978).

Addistinction is made here between the communication skill of "responding empathically" and Roger's (1957) concept of "accurate empathy". The training programs used in the present study did not purport to change the trainees, into empathic individuals, but they were intended teach specific verbal behaviors which would contribute to the communication of empathy in a relationship. The same skill, taught in a study by Richardson and Stone (1981), was named "reflection of feeling". However, in this study, "responding empathically" was felt to be a more accurate description of the skill taught. The present study utilized three measures to assess the training programs: a rating measure, a conceptual measure, and a measure of generalization. The generalization or interview measure utilized the same rating scales as the performance measure, and thus is not discussed

under a separate heading.

The Performance Measure

The term "performance" is used in this study to denote the behavioral and verbal aspects, in the execution of the skill being taught. A number of approaches have been developed for assessing the communication skill of responding empathically. A large number of these have involved rating scales used by judges to rate specific counsellor behaviors (Carkhuff, 1969a,b; Raskin, 1965; Truax & Carkhuff, 1967). Most of these rating scales have been shown to be moderately reliable (Luborsky & Spence, 1978). Other approaches to assessing empathy have involved: (a) client ratings of therapists performances, (b) the frequency of use of empathy statements, (c) multiple choice type exams with video stimulus tapes, and (d) written skills tests (Ford, 1979). In the present study, judges' ratings of the trainees' responses to helpee statements were chosen as being the most appropriate type of alternative. Of the other possibilities, client ratings are not possible in a training study, frequency data does not measure quality of response, and exams and written skill tests are not as valid a measure of performance.

In the literature, a number of questions have been raised regarding the validity of judges' ratings in assessing impathy (Blaas & Heck, 1975; Chinsky & Rappaport, 1970; Kurtz & Grummon, 1972). The main contention however, pertains to the clarity of the construct of empathy rather

than to the use of ratings. In response to this literature, Kasdorf and Gustafson (1978) suggested that when using rating scales, efforts should be made to: (a) operationalize the definition of the construct being taught in terms of specific behavioral criteria, and (b) operationally define the scale points in terms of identifiable behaviors so as to increase the reliability and validity of the measures. In the present study, responding empathically was operationally defined in behavioral terms as reflecting the feeling and content of the client's statement. In the present study the cartauff Empathic Understanding in Interpersonal Processes Scale (1969a,b) was used. The five points on the scale were defined in terms of specific behavioral criteria (see Appendix I).

In their review of the construct validities of empathy measures, Feldstein and Gladstein (1980) concluded that the Empathic Understanding Scale had good validity when empathy was defined strictly as a verbal skill. None of the other empathy measures reviewed were considered to be more valid than this scale. Since the skill taught in the present study was "strictly verbal", the Empathic Understanding Scale was considered to be a valid instrument to use for the performance and interview measures.

The Conceptual Measure

対方

To date, only a few studies have used a conceptual measure of counselling skills. Eskedal (1975) constructed a true-false instrument to measure the acquisition of the

information modelled in his training program. The test items were developed by viewing the program and formulating test questions that directly related to the counselling behaviors of the model. The judgment of content validity of the measure was accomplished by submitting the instrument for critical review by six psychologists and modifying it accordingly.

A standardized test was developed by Gunn, Hill and Gelfand (cited in Pfeiffer, Heslin, & Jones, 1976) to measure "empathy recognition". They suggested that high scorers on their test, called <u>Recognition Assessment-Empathy (RA-E)</u>, cognitively understood the concept of empathy. The RA-E is a multiple choice type test with twenty questions. Each question consists of one helpee statement and four possible helper responses. The testee is required to choose the most empathic response.

Because the RA-E did not completely suit the requirements of the present study a similar instrument was developed. This instrument, called the <u>Conceptual Measure</u>, followed the design of the RA-E but included additional factors. These were developed from the following concept learning model.

Klausmeier (1971) formulated a descriptive model of conceptual learning. This developmental model proposes four progressively more complex levels of concept attainment: the concrete level, the identity level, the classificatory level, and the formal level. The two levels of interest in

the present study were the classificatory level and the formal level. At the classificatory level, individuals are able to determine that two different instances of the same concept are equivalent, and classify a number of instances as examples and others as non-examples. At the formal level, individuals can define attributes of the concept as well as perform the operations of the classificatory level.

Based on the Klausmeier model, the present study defined conceptual understanding as: (a) the ability to identify and classify helper responses on the basis of their empathic facilitativeness, and (b) the ability to rank order helper responses in terms of their empathic facilitativeness. It was not considered appropriate to incorporate the formal level operation of "defining attributes of the concept" into the test because of the short duration of the training program and the abstract nature of the concept.

The test developed for the present study was a multiple choice type in which the answers were ranked by the trainees in terms of their appropriateness. This test, like the RA-E, measured recognition and identification. In addition, it involved classification and qualitative differentiation of responses in terms of their facilitativeness. This test is described in greater detail in Chapter III along with the procedure for the study.

D. Hypotheses

Based on 'the review of the literature and the pilot study by the author the following hypotheses seemed to be warranted and in need of testing:

- 1. The positive only and contrast modelling groups will be superior to the negative only modelling and the control groups on all measures.
- 2. The contrast modelling group will be superior to the positive only modelling group on measures of conceptual understanding, on generalization of the skill to new situations, and on maintenance of the skill over time.
 - 3. The negative only modelling group will be superior to the control group on the performance and conceptual measures.

In order to test the above hypotheses the following general and specific null hypotheses were examined statistically.

General Null Hypotheses

- 1. There will be no significant difference between groups on a measure of performance.
- 2. There will be no significant difference between groups on a measure of generalization.
- 3. There will be no significant difference between groups on a measure of conceptual understanding.
- 4. There will be no significant difference between scores on the initial posttest and scores on the delayed

posttest for the measure of performance.

- 5. There will be no significant difference between scores on the initial posttest and scores on the delayed posttest for the measure of generalization.
- 6. There will be no significant difference between scores on the initial posttest and scores on the delayed posttest for the measure of conceptual understanding.

Specific Null Hypotheses

The specific null hypotheses were determined in advance of the data collection in order to test the theory presented in Chapter II.

- 7. The scores of the CM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the POM group on the initial interview measure.
- 8. The scores of the CM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the POM group on the delayed interview measure:
- 9. The scores of the CM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the POM group on the initial conceptual measure.
- 10. The scores of the CM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the POM group on the delayed conceptual measure.
- 11. The scores of the NOM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the Control group on the initial performance measure.

- 12. The scores of the NOM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the Control group on the delayed performance measure
 - 13. The scores of the NOM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the Control group on the initial interview measure.
 - 14. The scores of the NOM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the Control group on the delayed interview measure.
 - 15. The scores of the NOM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the Control group on the initial conceptual measure.
 - 16. The scores of the NOM group will not be significantly higher than the scores of the Control group on the delayed conceptual measure.

The purpose of the study was to investigate the effects of different modelling presentation methods on behavioral and conceptual learning of a communication skill and subsequently, the generalization and maintenance of results. This chapter describes the experimental design, the development of the training tapes, the procedure, and the dependent measures used.

A. Subjects

Undergraduate students enrolled in introductory education courses were asked to volunteer their participation in this study. A limited description of the study was given along with an explanation of the requirements. A sign-up book was then passed around the classroom and volunteers signed up at times that were convenient to themselves. Eighty-seven subjects participated in the study and eighty-four complete sets of data were obtained. Two incomplete sets of data were due to the subjects not returning for the delayed posttest and one to equipment malfunction.

B. Experimental Design and Treatment Conditions.

A post-test only, control group design (Campbell & Stanley, 1963) with repeated measures was used. The independent variable in the study was the modelling presentation method. The dependent variables were: skill performance ability, conceptual understanding, and performance in new situations, each assessed on two occasions. The three outcome measures were evaluated immediately after the treatment and again after a period of seven days.

The four experimental conditions included three treatment conditions and one control group. These were called: positive only modelling (POM), contrast modelling (CM), negative only modelling (NOM), and control. The following section describes the nature and development of the training tapes.

C. The Training Program

The communication skill chosen to be taught to the trainees was "responding empathically". The purpose of the program was to teach teacher trainees how to respond empathically when interacting with students. For the purposes of this study, "responding empathically" was operationally defined as, "reflecting the feeling and content of the student's statement". This definition is consistent with that employed in previous empathy training studies (Calder, 1980; Perry, 1975).

The format of the training programs followed a variation of the microcounselling paradigm (Ivey, 1971).

Specifically, it was based on a training model developed by Calder (1980), which incorporated the various components of microcounselling with an emphasis on the modelling component and on practice with modelled feedback.

The program was presented on audio-tape. This mode of presentation is interactive in that the trainee is asked to respond to helpee statements on the tape, practice the skill, and then receive feedback regarding the quality of his or her responses. Some advantages of a taped mode of presentation are: (a) the quality of demonstration is consistently high and is standard for each presentation time, (b) the trainee can practice and repractice the skill as many times as required, thereby reviewing and improving on his/her own taped responses, and (c) the program is self-instructional and so does not necessarily require the presence of an instructor. Programs based on this model have been demonstrated to be effective in a number of studies (Calder, 1980; Eustace, 1980; Honeychurch, 1980). In the present study the demonstration of the effectiveness of this type of program was secondary to the question of the effects of different modelling presentation methods.

The three treatment programs developed were identical in all respects except for the manner in which the modelled message was presented. The programs were approximately 20 minutes in duration during which time the trainee listened

to the demonstration and recorded his or her responses. In listening to the program, the trainee was exposed to a number of vignettes in which two educational psychologists demonstrated various responses during an interview with a high school student. The specific format of each of the treatment tapes is given in the following section.

Positive Model Tape

The positive model tape had the following components:

- 1. an introductory section with a brief description of the skill and an explanation of the procedure. These were given in an encouraging manner to promote maximum participation and were intended to cue the listener to the relevant information;
- 2. sixteen helper-helpee interactions in which the helper demonstrated empathic responses which were rated by the judges and found to be at an average level of 3.9 on the Carkhuff Empathic Understanding Scale.
- a commentary by the helper on the quality of the responses (attentional cueing);
- 4. a practice feedback session in which eight helpee statements were heard. The trainees were given a 15, second pause after each statement during which time they were to respond with an appropriate empathic response to the statement. The 15 second pause was followed by an appropriate high level modelled response, giving the trainee the opportunity to compare his or her response with the high level response;

consisted of six student statements to which empathic responses were to be made.

Contrast Model Tape

The contrast modelling tape was identical to the positive modelling tape with the exception of components one and two. The introductory section differed only in its explanation of section two. It was explained that both good and poor examples were to be demonstrated. In section two, the models demonstrated a low level, inappropriate empathic response and then corrected themselves with a high level response. Twelve of these helper-helpee interactions were demonstrated. In section four both good and poor responses were demonstrated. A transcript of this program is given in Appendix II. The script of the positive model tape was similar to the one given in Appendix II but did not have the hegative examples.

Negative Model Tape

The first, second, and fourth components of this tape differed from those in the positive model tape. In the instructions the skill was defined and it was explained that only poor examples were to be heard. Trainees were encouraged to think of better responses. The second component had sixteen helper-helpee interactions in which the helper demonstrated poor, low level empathic responses. These responses were rated by the judges and were found to have a mean level of 1.4. In the fourth segment eight helpee

statements were heard followed by poor low level responses.

The trainees were asked to make their own responses to each statement which improved on the modelled response.

Control Tape

This tape contained instructions, a description of the skill, and the post-test.

D. Tape Production Considerations

A number of factors were considered during tape production in an effort to enhance the instructional quality and to increase experimental control. One factor was the medium of presentation. The three presentation modes typically used in training studies are: written, audio taped, or filmed. In a study specifically investigating the media of presentation, Robinson, Froehle, and Kurpius (1979b) found no significant difference between video and audio modes of presentation when teaching counselling skills. Similar results were obtained in a study by Wilmarth, Moracco, and Valine (1982). In a 20 hour Human Relations Training class no differences were found between filmed, audio taped, and written modes of presentation on measures of empathic understanding.

Calder (1980), has suggested that visual input may actually detract from the learning of a verbal skill because trainees may attend to the wrong cues. Although the audio visual medium does have a number of advantages over the audio medium it was felt that in practice more training

situations use audio tape than video equipment. In the present study, audio taped instructional programs were used.

During tape development, emphasis was placed on enhancing the trainees' responsiveness to the expert models on the tape. Bandura (1977) outlined a number of characteristics of models that enhance responsiveness. The following model characteristics have been found to be efficacious: high status, perceived competence, power, and same sex as the trainee. Having multiple models has also been found to enhance responsiveness. The treatment tape in the present study employed prestigious and competent models (expert educators trained in communication skills), and used models of both sex.

In segment two of the treatment tapes the modelling presentation method differed for each tape: the positive model tape and the negative model tape had 16 demonstration statements while the contrast model tape had 12. This difference was necessary because the contrast model demonstrations required more time to present. For the second segment, a decision was made to keep the instruction time, rather than the number of demonstrations, constant across treatments so that any differences found across treatment groups could not be tirelighted to differences in instructional time.

The production of the programs and the post-tests required a number of student client statements in the second, fourth and fifth segments. To insure that the

difficulty level of the statements was consistent for the programs and the post-tests, a pool of statements was generated and then randomly assigned to the programs and both post-tests.

The content of the statements expressed by the student clients on the tape focused on common, everyday problems typical of those experienced by school students. They were kept brief, and were carefully worded to insure clarity of meaning.

Finally, the program was administered on a trial basis to a number of trainees to insure that the timing was appropriate and the instructions clear.

E. Procedure

The trainees received the treatment programs on Sony Language Lab recorders. On these machines it was possible to listen and record at the same time.

The facilities available allowed a maximum of three students to be trained at one time. On arrival, the trainees were randomly assigned to a treatment condition and seated in individual small training rooms. A description of the equipment and the program along with the procedural instructions was then given and the trainees proceded to work through their programs individually.

Upon finishing the audio taped portion of the program
the trainees were asked to participate in a simulated
interview for five minutes and, following this, complete the

written test. The trainees were then asked to return the following week at the same time to complete the study. After the delayed posttest, administered seven days after the treatment, the subjects were debriefed (see Appendix III) and their reactions to the program elicited informally.

F. Dependent Measures

The three dependent variables in this study were: a measure of skill performance, a measure of conceptual understanding, and a measure of skill performance in a simulated interview.

Performance Measure

This measure assessed the trainees' abilities to respond empathically to student client statements. Six statements were presented to the trainees as the final component of the training program. They were asked to make an empathic response to each of the six statements. Three trained judges independently rated the responses. The Carkhuff "Empathic Understanding for Interpersonal Processes Scale" (1969a,b) was used to rate the responses. To improve the reliability of the judges, each scale point was defined in behavioral terms and a behavioral definition of empathic responding was developed (see Appendix I).

Two of the judges were blind to the conditions and to the identity of the subjects. The third judge operated the equipment and therefore was not blind to the conditions. Inclusion of the third judge's ratings as part of the

dependent measure was conditional on a number of criteria. These are discussed in Chapter IV. The ratings of the six responses for each subject were averaged to give a single performance score for each subject.

Two professional psychotherapists served as raters. Both were experienced raters and one had had previous experience with the Carkhuff scales. In the one hour rater training session examples of responses at different levels were provided along with an operational description of empathic responding and an explanation of the rating procedure. Following this, trial ratings of sample responses were made until an 80% level of agreement was reached consistently by the judges.

Conceptual Measure

In the present study, conceptual understanding was operationally defined as the ability to identify and classify helper responses on the basis of their empathic facilitativeness (cf. Chapter II).

For the conceptual measure, the subjects were presented with six helpee statements, each of these being followed by four possible helper responses. Two alternate forms of this test were constructed for the two testing occasions. In developing the test 15 student statements were selected. For each of these, six possible responses representing various levels of empathic responding were generated. Each of the responses was rated by five judges on the Carkhuff Empathic Understanding Scale. From the six responses the four

responses which provided the widest range of empathic understanding were selected. Three of the 15 questions were eliminated because agreement on the ratings was not reached by the five judges. The remaining 12 questions were randomly assigned to the two alternate forms of the test.

In taking the test the subjects were asked to rank order the responses from best to worst in terms of their empathic facilitativeness (see Appendix IV). This measure was presented simultaneously on audio tape and in the written mode so that differences in trainee responding between these two modes would not bias the results.

Five counselling psychologists with previous empathy rating training were given the test and the modal value of their combined responses was taken as an "actual" rank ordering. The data on this measure consisted of difference scores between the subjects rank orderings and the "actual" rank order. Difference scores from the six items were averaged to give a single conceptual score for each subject. In each case this score was subtracted from the total number of errors possible (48) so that scores would correlate positively with the level of conceptual understanding.

Interview Measure

In order to assess the subjects' abilities to perform the communication skill in a realistic setting, each subject was asked to practice their empathic responding skills in a simulated interview setting. Three university students role played as the student clients. They were coached, in a one

hour training session, to present concerns that might typically be discussed with a school teacher. Four general topic areas were chosen for the interviews, These were: "family concerns", "vocational concerns", "relationship concerns", and "personal concerns". Trainees were given a different topic on the delayed posttest from the one presented on the initial posttest but apart from this the topics were randomly assigned to trainees.

The interviews were taped and lasted approximately five to ten minutes. From each interview the middle three minute segments were extracted. The subjects' responses from these segments were rated using the same rating scale and methods as those used in the performance measures. An overall score was calculated for each subject.

Por the conceptual measure two forms of the test (forms A and B) were required, one for the immediate post-test and one for the delayed post-test (Appendix IV). In order to eliminate any variance due to differences between forms A and B, one half of the subjects received form A on the immediate post-test and one half received form B. On the delayed post-test, each subject received the alternate form.

The type of analysis used is presented in Chapter IV along with the results and discussion.

IV. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The data collected during the present experiment consisted of three dependent measures taken from each subject on two occasions. The dependent variables consisted of a measure of skill performance, a measure of the trainees' understanding of the concept of empathy, and a measure of generalization of the skill. The major statistical analysis used was a one-way univariate analysis of variance with repeated measures calculated for each of the dependent measures. It was decided to accept as significant any differences for which the probability for rejecting the null hypotheses was less than .05.

Two of the dependent measures involved ratings made by judges. Inter-rater reliability coefficients were calculated for each judge using a Pearson r. In this chapter the results of the analysis are presented and discussed in conjunction with the hypotheses stated in Chapter II.

A. Reliability of the Judges

Three judges rated randomly presented responses made by the trainees for the performance measure and the interview measure. Two of the judges were blind to the experimental conditions, to the testing occasion (initial or delayed), and to the ratings of the other judges. The third judge, the present author, was not blind to the experimental conditions

or the testing occasions but was blind to the ratings of the other judges. The advantage of using the ratings of three judges versus those of two judges was that the overall reliability of the measures would be increased. Because the third judge was not blind to the conditions in this study, the possibility of rater bias may have existed. Therefore two criteria were used to determine whether the advantages of including the third judge's ratings in the dependent measures would outweigh the disadvantages. The first criterion required a high correlation of the third judge's ratings with those of the other two. The second required that the third judge's ratings did not consistently fall outside the mean range set by the ratings of the other two judges.

The correlation of ratings for the individual judges for the four experimental conditions reported in Table I show correlations between 0.7 and 0.9 with the highest correlations being between the third judge and the other two. The mean ratings for the four experimental conditions and the two testing occasions (see Table II) show that, for the most part, the third judge's mean ratings fell between the range set by the means of the other two judges. Thus, there seemed to be no observable bias. On the bases of these results it was decided to include the third judge's ratings as part of the dependent measures, in order to increase the reliability of the measures.

Table 1

Correlations of the Ratings of Individual

Judges for Each Condition

		JUDGES		
CONDITION	l with 2 (n = 21)	l with 3 (n = 21)	2 with 3 (n = 21)	
Group 1: Positive				
Performance measure	.811	. 843	.869	
Interview measure	.765	.902	.770	
Group 2: Contrast Performance measure	.864	.939		
Interview measure	.857	.866	. 863 . 854	
Group 3: Negative				
Performance measure	.886	.929	.899	
Interview measure	.736	. 855	.752	
Group 4: Control				
Performance measure	.767	.847	.774	
Interview measure	.689	721	.691	

Group Means and Standard Deviations for Individual
Judges on the Performance and Interview Measures

		ī	Initial test			Delayed test				
	Group	1	Judge 2	3	1	Judge 2	3			
,		ng ang ng n	<u>P</u>	ERFORMAN	CE MEASU	RE				
1.	Positive (n = 21)	19.95 (2.85)	72.95 72.997	19.90 3.19)		-18.42 (2.85)	18.29			
2.	Contrast (n = 21)	18.10 (3.99)	19.71 (3.70)	18.86 (4.10)	19.43 * 63.65)	19.71. (2.74)	19.57 (3.23)			
3.	Negative (n = 21)	9.38 (3.91)	9.52 (4.15)	9.61 (3.88)	11.81 (3.34)	10.67	11.76 (3.53)			
4.	Control (n = 21)	7.00 (1.00)	7.95 (2.03)	7.19 (1.12)	9.28 (2.30)	9.57 (2.97)	9.05 (2.34)			
<u>.</u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			NTERVIEW	MEASUR	Ē .				
1.	Positive (n = 21)	2.76 (0.94)	3.00 (0.83)	2.85 (0.96)		. 2.76 (0.99)	2.86 (0.91)			
2.	Contrast . (n = 21)		3.28 (0.90)	3.47	3.14 (1.06)	3.09 (1.04)	3.09			
3.	Negative (n = 21)	1.38	1.44	1.33 (0.57)		1.81	1.57			
4.	Control (n = 21)	1.23 (0.43)	1.33 (0.48)	1.23 (0.43)	1.47	1.33	1.23			

⁽⁾ indicates standard deviations

The performance measures were obtained by having the three judges rate each of the subject's six responses on both the initial and the delayed posttests. The three judges' ratings were averaged to give a score for the response. The six response scores were then averaged to give an overall performance score. The interview measures were obtained by having the three judges listen to the three minute mid-sections of each of the interviews and rate each statement made by the trainees. An overall rating was then made from these ratings and used as the interview score. In the rating sessions the trainee interviews and the performance responses were randomly presented to the judges.

The results shown in Table III indicate an average inter-rater reliability of 0.93 for the initial posttest and an r of 0.92 for the delayed posttest. These results compare favorably with inter-rater reliability coefficients reported in studies using similar rating scales, (DiMittia & Arndt ... 1974; Haase & DiMittia 1970, Ivey, etc. al., 1968; Kuna, 1975) and are considered to indicate good rater reliability for the measures used in the following analysis.

B. Treatment Effects

The design of the present study involved one independent variable (the modelling presentation method) and three dependent variables assessed on two occasions. The means and standard deviations for the four groups on the two testing occasions are given in Table IV. The following

Table 3
Mean Inter-rater Reliability Coefficients

Performance .965 .955	Measure	Initial Test (n = 84)	Delayed Test (n = 84)
to place in the first of the control of the contro	Performance	.965	.955
.908 .887	Interview	.908	.887

Table 4
Group Means and Standard Deviations

		Measure .				
Group	Performance	Interview	Conceptual			
		INITIAL POSTTES				
) 1. Positive (n = 21)	19.60	2.87	38.00			
	(2.91)	(0.87)	(5.33)			
2. Contrast (n = 21)	18.89	3.38	42.00			
	(3.73)	(0.89)	(3.63)			
3. Negative	9.51	1.38	33.43			
(n = 21)	(3.91)	(0.55)	(7.05)			
4. Control (n = 21)	7.38	1.27	24.76			
	(1.22)	(0.34)	(6.37)			
		DELAYED POSTTEST				
l. Positive	18.57 (2.54)	2.81	38.86			
(n = 21)		(0.87)	(2.50)			
Contrast	19.57 (3.13)	3.11	40.76			
(n = 21)		(0.98)	(3.19)			
Negative (n = 21)	11.41	1.65	33.91			
	(3.34)	(0.89)	(7.31)			
(n = 21)	9.32	1.35	25.81			
	(2.48)	(0.43)	(8.83)			

sections examine the results for the three measures.

<u>Performance Measure</u>

The performance measures used in this study evaluated the effective skill level of the subjects in their ability to respond empathically to six helpee statements on audiotape. The range of possible scores was from six to 30. Means and standard deviations for this measure are reported in Table IV. An analysis of variance with repeated measures was performed on this data to investigate Group and Test Occasion differences. The results, reported in Table V, showed that both Group and Testing Occasion had statistically significant effects. These results were relevant to Null Hypothesis 1, predicting no difference between groups on the initial and delayed posttests, and Null Hypothesis 4, predicting no difference between testing occasions (see Chapter II). On the basis of the analysis both of these hypotheses were rejected indicating that there were differences between groups and testing occasions. A priori and posteriori contrasts were calculated for cell means to investigate which pairs of treatments differed significantly.

A Priori Contrasts.

In order to lest the specific Null Hypotheses numbers 11 and 12, planned contrasts using a one-tailed t-tests were calculated. The results reported in Table V show that the negative only modelling (NOM) group scored significantly higher than the Control group on this measure on both the

Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated
Measures, t Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts
for the Performance Measure

				
Source	SS	df	ms	F ratio
Group main				
effects (A)	4089.90	3	1363.30	99.46
Within	1096.60	80	13.71	
Testing Occasion				
main effects (B)	32.01	1	32.01	7.12*
AxB	61.53	3	20.51	4.56
Within	359.83	80	4.50	
				•

A Priori t Comparisons

Group Contrast	s error	t value p (one-tailed)
Negative with Cor	itrol:	
Initial Test	70.89	2.38 0.013
Delayed Test	0.91	2.31 0.614

Table 5 (Continued)

Scheffé Multiple Comparisons between Means

									Group	. 8				
•					Poś	tive	,ec	ntras	E	Negat	ive.	Ce	ntrol	
]	ni	tial	Tes	ıt	19.	60	. 1	8.89		9.5	1	•	1.38	
I	el	ayed	Tes	t	18.	57	1	9.57		11.4	1).32	

denotes significant effects (p<.05)

l means underscored by a common line are not significatly different, p<.05

initial and the delayed testing occasions. Therefore Null Hypotheses 11 and 12 were rejected. These results would suggest that when trainees receive only bad examples of responding empathically they are able to perform the skill better than subjects receiving only a definition of the skill.

Posteriori Contrasts:

A Scheffe Multiple Comparison Test calculated to identify where significant differences lay between cells revealed the following: (a) there were no significant differences between the positive only modelling (POM) and the contrast modelling (CM) groups on either the initial or the delayed posttest measures of performance, (b) all other groups were significantly different from each other on both the initial and delayed posttest measures of performance, (c) the POM and CM groups showed no significant increase or decrease in performance on the two testing occasions, (d) the NOM and Control groups showed a significant increase in performance on the delayed posttest.

Interview Measure

The measure of generalization was obtained by rating the trainees' empathic skill level while they participated in a simulated interview. The range of possible scores was from one to five. The results of the analysis of variance with repeated measures showed a statistically significant effect across groups but nonsignificant effects across testing occasions (see Table VI).

Table 6
Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated
Measures, t Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts
for the <u>Interview Measure</u>

Source	SS	df.	ms	F ratio
Group main effects (A)	116.05	3	38.68	42.51*
Within	72.81	80	0.91	42.51
Testing Occasion main effects (B)	0.001		0.001	0.002
AxB	1.64	3	0.546	2.09
Within	20.86	80	0.26	

A Priori t Comparisons

Positive with Contrast:				
Initial Test 0.2	729	1.86	0.03	5
Delayed, Test 0.2	854	1.06	0.14	
Negative with Control:				
Initial Test 0.1	416	0.78	0.21	g
Delayed Test 0.2	169	1.39	0.08	
7.				

Table 6 (Continued)

Scheffé Multiple Comparisons between Means

	Group's .		
Positive	Contrast	Negative	Control
Initial Test 2.87	3.38	1.38	1.27
Delayed Test 2.81	3.11 .	1.65	1.35

denotes significant effects (p<.05)

means underscored by a common line are not significantly different, p<.05

Null Hypothesis 2, predicting no significant differences between groups, was rejected while Null Hypothesis 5, predicting no significant differences between testing occasions, failed to be rejected. It would appear that, on this measure, skill level of responding empathically was maintained over a period of seven days. In order to determine where significant differences occured across groups a priori and posteriori contrasts were calculated.

A Priori Contrasts.

The specific Null Hypotheses 7 and 8 predicted that the CM group would not score significantly higher than the POM. group on either the initial or the delayed interview measures. Planned contrasts using one-tailed t-tests indicated that on the initial posttest the CM group did score significantly higher than the POM group but this significant difference was not maintained on the delayed posttest. Specific Null Hypotheses 13 and 14 predicted that the NDM group would not score significantly higher than the control group on either posttest. The results of the contrasts reported in Table VI failed to reject these two hypotheses. This indicated that trainees who received only bad examples of the skill were not able to respond more empathically in a simulated interview than trainees receiving no modelled examples. On the basis of the results reported in Table VI, Null Hypothesis 7 was rejected while Null Hypotheses 8, 13, and 14 failed to be rejected.

Posteriori Contrasts.

Results of the Scheffe Multiple Comparison Test indicated that both the POM and the CM groups scored significantly higher in a simulated interview than the NOM group and the Control group on the initial posttest. These differences were also maintained on the delayed posttest.

Conceptual Measure

The conceptual test in this study required trainees to identify and discriminate between different quality levels of empathic responses. The test yielded an error score. All scores were then transformed by subtracting them from 48, the total number of errors possible. This transformation was made so that higher scores would correspond positively with greater denceptual understanding.

As seen in Table VII, analysis of this data indicated a statistically significant effect across groups but not across testing occasions. Null Hypothesis 3, suggesting no significant differences between groups, was rejected and Null Hypothesis 6, predicting no significant differences between testing occasions, was not rejected. As with the generalization measure, the conceptual measure indicated that trainees were able to retain what they learned from the program over a period of 7 days with no further training after the initial program.

A Priori Contrasts.

Planned t-tests were calculated between group means to test Null Hypotheses 9, 10, 15, and 16. The results reported

Table 7
Summary of Analysis of Variance with Repeated
Measures, t Contrasts, and Scheffe Contrasts
for the Conceptual Measure

Source	ss	df	ms	F ratio
Group main effects (A)	6225.84	3	2075.28	39.81*
Within	4170.25	80	52.12	
Testing Occasion main effects (B)	3.44		3.44	0.19
AxB	34.29	3	11.43	0.64
Within	1422.25	80	17.78	

A Priori t Comparisons

Group Contrast	s error	t value	p (one-tailed)
Positive with Cont	rast:		
Initial Test	1.407	2.84	0.004
Delayed Test	0.8842	2.154	• 0.019
Negative with Contr	rol:		
Initial Test	2.073	4.18	0.000
Delayed Test	2.501	3.24	0.001
		1 - 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	

Table 7 (Continued)

Scheffé Multiple Comparisons between Means

	Groups			
	Positive Contrast	Negative	Control	
Initial Test	38.00 42.00	33.43	24.76	
Delayed Test	38.86 40.76 6	33.91	25.81	

denotes significant effects (p<.05)

means underscored by a common line are not significantly
different, p<.05</pre>

in Table VII show that the CM group scored significantly higher than the POM group on both the initial and the delayed testing occasions. Also, on this measure the NOM group scored significantly higher than the Control group. Therefore, on the basis of these contrasts, Null Hypotheses 9, 10, 15, and 16 were rejected.

Posteriori Contrasts.

As reported in Table VII the Scheffe Test for multiple comparisons demonstrated that all groups tested were significantly different from one another on both the initial and delayed posttests. The results of the a priori and posteriori contrasts suggested that the rank order of ability from highest to lowest was: CM group, POM group, NOM group, Control group.

Summary

The findings of the study indicated that the POM and CM groups were significantly superior to the NOM and Control groups on all measures. The CM group was significantly higher than the POM group on both the initial and delayed conceptual measures, and on the initial interview measure. There were no differences between these two groups on the performance measure.

The NOM group was significantly higher than the Control group on both initial and delayed testings of the performance measure and the conceptual measure. No decrease was seen over testing occasions for any of the groups and the NOM and Control group showed an unexpected increase over

testing occasions on the performance measure.

C. Discussion

From the literature reviewed in Chapter II an argument was developed for the utilization of contrast modelling rather than positive only modelling as the preferable modelling presentation method. It has been adequately demonstrated in the literature that both modelling presentation methods are effective in teaching skill performance (Ford, 1979). In the present study it was proposed that by providing contrasting examples trainees would gain a better conceptual understanding of the skill being taught. Furthermore, it was argued that a better conceptual understanding would promote retention of the skill over time and generalization of the skill to new situations.

Counter arguments to this theory would suggest that contrast modelling interferes with learning because the trainees learn inappropriate skills. In the following section the results of the study are discussed in terms of the above arguments.

<u>Program Effectiveness</u>

The self-instructional audio tape programs used in this study were designed to be an efficient and effective method for introducing students to, and teaching, communication skills. It should be emphasized that the programs are not a complete workshop in themselves and that they would be most

3

useful when used as one component of a communications workshop or course. Therefore, it is felt that differences found between modelling presentation methods in this study would be exaggerated if the same methods were applied to longer and more intensive training programs.

In the training of communication skills, Carkhuff and Berenson (1967) have suggested that a "level three" on the Scale for Measurement of Accurate Empathy should be a basic goal or criterion for trainees. Inspection of the group means for the performance and interview measures in the present study (Table IV) show that the POM group and the CM group generally scored within the three level range, while the NOM group and the Control group scored at approximately the 1.5 level range. These results clearly indicate that the programs with positive only and contrast examples were effective in teaching trainees to respond empathically to the level suggested by Carkhuff and Berenson in a fairly short period of time.

On the performance measures, differences between groups occured as predicted. The POM treatment and the CM treatment were equivalent in their ability to teach performance of the skill while the NOM treatment was more effective than no treatment but not as effective as the former two. These results were found both on the immediate posttest and seven days after treatment. It is significant that trainees who only received examples of how not to respond were able to respond more empathically than untrained subjects. These

results would contradict suggestions that negative examples interfere with learning (Alssid and Hutchison, 1977).

Results of the conceptual measure for both the initial and delayed tests suggested that contrast modelling does indeed teach an understanding of "responding empathically" more effectively than positive only modelling. This implies that trainees receiving contrast modelling are better able to identify, classify, and rank order helper responses in terms of their empathic facilitativeness than trainees receiving other methods of modelled presentation.

Trainees who received only poor examples of the communication skill demonstrated a significantly greater conceptual understanding than trainees in the Control group who received only an explanation of the skill. This would suggest that negative only modelling does provide trainees with more information about the skill and thus enhances their learning. However, since the negative only modeling treatment was significantly inferior to the other two treatments on all measures, it would not be realistic to consider this presentation method in designing future training programs. It was felt that the superiority of the contrast modelling treatment was due to the contrast provided by the combination of positive and negative examples and not just due to the addition of the NOM factor.

Besides arguing that contrast modelling interferes with learning Alssid and Hutchison (1977) and Berliner (1969) suggested that positive only modelling was more efficient than contrast modelling in that it takes less time to present only good examples. In the present study instruction time was kept constant across all treatments. In order to accompdate both good and bad responses in the contrast program the number of examples was reduced from 16 to 12. Thus, in these programs, the contrast modelling program was as time efficient as the positive only program and the trainees performed as well as or better on the measures used even though they received fewer examples.

Generalization of Treatment

An indication of how well the skill taught would transfer to new situations was obtained by requiring the trainees to participate in a simulated helping relationship. During the training programs the trainees only heard and responded to single student statements. This was quite different from the simulated interviews which closely approximated actual student-teacher or student-student interactions.

On the generalization measure both the POM and CM groups were significantly better than the Control group on both testing occasions. The group means for these two treatment groups showed that trainees were performing at a high two to three level on the Carkhuff empathy rating scale. This would indicate that the skill taught did generalize well to an interview situation for these two groups. The NOM group was not significantly better than the Control group and the NOM group means showed a low level of

performance in these interview situations.

On the basis of the research reviewed in Chapter II the hypothesis was put forth that training approaches that improve cognitive or conceptual understanding would also promote generalization and retention. In the present study results indicated that the CM program did teach conceptual understanding more effectively than the PDM program. However, support for the superiority of the CM program in promoting generalization was only found on the immediate posttest. In the delayed posttest these two groups were not significantly different at the .05 level although the CM group was somewhat higher than the PDM group (p=.15). These findings would provide only limited support to the idea that trainees who have developed a better conceptual understanding of a skill would be able to apply it more effectively in different situations.

It may be that differences between the two approaches in terms of generalizability may only become apparent after more intensive training and that the 20 minute programs given in the present study were not extensive enough to show significant differences on a delayed measure. Also, of interest would be a measure of generalization for these two approaches in an actual work setting. The results of this study do tend to support existing research showing that a focus on cognitive factors enhances generalizability (Berg & Stone, 1980; Derry & Stone, 1979; Eskedal, 1975; Richardson & Stone, 1981). The differences found in this study would

probably warrent choosing a contrast modelling approach over a positive only modelling approach when designing a new program.

Maintenance

Maintenance of the skill over time was evaluated by retesting trainees with equivalent tests seven days after they had taken the program. Results on all three measures showed no significant decreases of the skill level for any of the treatment groups. Two unexpected differences occured on the performance measure that question the reliability of this measure, i.e. the NOM and the Control groups showed an improvement in skill level over the seven day interval. A number of possible reasons for this unexpected improvement are discussed.

Since the trainees in the NOM group and the Control group were not given any positive training they may have been confused during the initial posttest. During the ensuing week they had time to think about what was required and this may have improved their performance.

Another possibility was that a number of trainees in the NOM and Control groups may have talked to the trainees in the other two treatment groups and found out what was required. The experimenter, in talking to trainees during the debriefing session, discovered that this had happened in a number of cases. However, the extent of this contamination is unknown. It is significant that these two groups did not improve on the interview measure, a more complex task and

therefore one not as readily learned informally from other trainees.

A third possibility is that there may have been a practice effect in taking the tests which resulted in improvements on the second testing time for the NOM and Control groups.

The issue of stability of performance did not seem to exist with the interview and the conceptual measures, thus it was from these that conclusions regarding maintenance could most safely be drawn. It was suggested earlier that the CM program should promote greater maintenance or retention of the skill than the POM program. Because both these groups showed no significant decrease in their ability to perform the skill after a period of seven days no conclusions could be drawn regarding the relative superiority of one over the other in terms of maintenance. It is possible that the high level of maintenance found in this study in comparison to that found in other studies was due to the fact that there was only one skill to remember in this study. It is normal in communications workshops and courses to teach a number of skills and this would likely compound the problem of maintenance.

V. Summary and Conclusions

In this final chapter a brief overview of the study along with implications of the results and suggestions for further research are presented.

A. Overview

The present study was conducted to investigate an unresolved issue in the literature relating to the modelling component of training programs. The issue concerned the preferable way of presenting the modelled message. Two methods of presentation are currently favored, modelling good or appropriate examples of the skill to be learned, and modelling both good and bad examples of the skill to be learned in order to provide a contrast. Results of a pilot study suggested that trainees receiving both good and bad examples develop a better conceptual understanding of the material being taught.

The effectiveness of three modelling presentation methods in teaching performance and understanding of the communication skill of responding empathically were investigated in the present study. These included the two described above and a third method, modelling inappropriate responses only with no good examples. Inappropriate responses were accompanied by statements clearly indicating the poorness of the responses.

The second major objective of the study was to investigate the effectiveness of the three modelling presentation methods in promoting retention of the skill over time and generalization of the skill to new situations. A rationale supporting the hypothesis that contrast modelling would be superior to the other presentation methods in promoting retention and generalization was developed.

First and second year undergraduate education students from an introductory course in educational psychology were asked to volunteer for the study. Eighty-four students completed the programs and the tests. None of them had had any substantial training in communication skills prior to the study.

The programs administered were designed to teach the communication skill of responding empathically, defined in this study as "reflecting the feeling and content of the helpee statement". The exprams were of approximately 20 minutes in duration and included instructions, didactic explanation, modelled examples, practice with modelled feedback, and practice only sections.

Three measures were used to evaluate performance of the skill, conceptual understanding of the material, and generalization of the skill to a simulated interview situation. Ratings on The Scale for Measurement of Empathic Understanding in Interpersonal Processes (Carkhuff, 1969) were used as a measure of empathic responding on the

performance and generalization measures. The ratings made by the three judges were found to have a high level of inter-rater reliability. On the conceptual understanding measure, trainees were required to rank order different empathic responses in terms of their empathic facilitativeness. These responses were presented in the auditory and written modes simultaneously.

The results of the statistical analyses reported in the previous chapter clearly demonstrated that the positive only and the contrast modelling groups were superior to the control group on all measures indicating that these programs were effective in feaching the skill. Mean ratings for these two groups on the performance and interview measures were in the three level range, a range suggested by Carkhuff and Berenson (1967) as being a basic criterion for trainees.

Comparisons of the groups showed that contrast modelling was significantly more effective than positive only modelling in teaching conceptual understanding. However, both methods taught performance of the skill to approximately the same level. It was also found that the contrast modelling group performed significantly better than the positive only model group on the initial interview measure indicating that this group was better able to transfer the skill learned on the program to new situations. On the delayed interview measure the contrast modelling group was somewhat better than the positive only modelling group but not at the level of p<05. Both of these groups

showed no significant decreases in their performance level or conceptual understanding of the skill over a period of seven days and both groups were significantly better than the control group after this period.

The negative only modelling group performed significantly lower than the other two treatment groups on all measures. This group, however, was significantly better than the control group on the performance and the conceptual measures suggesting that a certain amount of learning had occured. Both the negative only modelling group and the Control group showed an unexpected improvement on the performance measure after a period of seven days. There was some indication that these subjects may have improved their performance by priking to trainees in the other two groups during the delay period. Their scores on the generalization and conceptual measures did not show a similar improvement.

B. Conclusions and Implications

The major issue investigated in the study was (a) whether contrast modelling would provide trainees with a better conceptual understanding of the skill being taught and thus promote generalization and retention, or (b) whether it would interfere with learning because trainees would learn inappropriate skills.

The results of the present study indicated that contrast modelling was more effective in teaching conceptual understanding of the skill than positive only modelling.

These results supported arguments made by Ivey and Authier (1978) and Eskedal (1975) that by providing good and bad examples trainees would be better able to discriminate between and identify the appropriate behaviors. If is proposed here that by including positive and negative examples in a modelling sequence, trainees are better able to discriminate between those dimensions of the materials presented which are relevant and critical and those which are not. Thus, their understanding of the material is increased.

A second conclusion drawn from the findings was that trainees with a greater conceptual understanding were better able to perform the skill in new situations. That is, generalization of the skill is enhanced. This conclusion was made with less confidence than the first because a statistically significant difference between the positive only and the contrast group on the interview measure was only found directly after treatment. Seven days after the treatment the contrast group performed at a higher level than the positive only group (p<.15) but did not reach specified levels of statistical significance.

These results were in accordance with other studies investigating the role of cognitive factors and attentional processes in the learning of new skills through modelling (Berg & Stone, 1980; Derry & Stone, 1979; Glass, Gottman, & Shmurak, 1976; Richardson & Stone, 1980). These researchers reported that the introduction of cognitive components

increased the generalizability of modelled behaviors to multiple situations and increased maintenance over time. Because the contrast modelling group was able to perform better in new situations, it is suggested that trainees with greater conceptual understanding are better able to make novel responses while trainees with less conceptual understanding are more likely to be confined to the limited response set provided by the discrete and specific skills training.

In the present study both the contrast and the positive only modelling groups demonstrated maintenance of the skill over time. Consequently, no conclusions regarding the differential effects of these two methods on retention can be made.

Results of this study do not support the argument that giving negative or poor examples interferes with learning. It was found that trainees who heard only poor examples were higher in their level of empathic responding and in their level of conceptual understanding than untrained subjects. It would seem that these trainees did learn some rules about how not to respond and thus were able to avoid possible errors in responding. Because the negative only modelling approach was inferior to the other two treatment approaches on all measures it is not considered to be a practical teaching method. Some studies have shown that the modelling of poor examples results in low performance if the trainees are lead to believe that the poor examples are actually

appropriate examples (Perry, 1975; Pierce, Carkhuff, & Berenson, 1967). It is emphasized here that it is important to clearly identify or cue the negative examples as examples of how not to respond so that trainees are not confused as to their appropriateness.

Overall, findings from the study indicate that there are advantages to using contrast modelling as opposed to positive only modelling in training programs in terms of increased conceptual understanding and generalization of the skill. These results may well have implications for other types of training and teaching methods that utilize modelling as an instructional technique in similar situations.

Limitations

Various limitations to the present study were noted. Firstly, the training programs taught only one skill, that of "responding empathically". It is possible that the effects of the modelling presentation method may vary with different skills and with such variables as the complexity level of the skill being taught. For example, it was felt that one of the reasons that no significant differences were found between contrast and positive only modelling in the Alssid and Hutchinson study (1977) was that the skill taught, asking open ended questions, was of a low complexity level. Contrast modelling may have more impact with higher complexity skills.

Secondly, the training programs used in the study were short, intensive, self-instructional modules intended for use in a more extensive communication workshop or course. Moreover, they were introductory programs designed to be used at the initial stages of training. If the same questions regarding modelling presentation methods were investigated using more extensive and in depth treatment periods, differences between the methods in terms of generalization and maintenance may become more obvious. In this respect the present study was exploratory.

Thirdly, the study did not differentiate between the positive only and the contrast modelling groups on the issue of maintenance of skills. It is possible that differences would become apparent if further delayed testing occasions were used after longer periods of time.

Fourthly, a measure of generalization was obtained by requiring trainees to participate in a simulated interview. The validity of this measure could be increased by assessing performance in multiple situations and in actual worksettings.

Finally, the subjects used in the study were undergraduate education students. Therefore demographic variables would have to be investigated before findings in this setting could be applied to other populations.

Suggestions for Further Research

Given the results of this study regarding modelling presentation methods there are a number of implications

which bear further investigation. The first concerns the types of skills with which contrast modelling will be effective. The skill of responding empathically was taught in this study. Further research might investigate the effectiveness of contrast modelling in other areas which utilize modelling as an instructional technique. These include: teacher training, parent training, assertiveness training, cognitive behavior modification, athletics training, and others. Another skill variable, discussed in the limitations section, that warrents investigation is skill complexity.

A second area of possible investigation pertains to the intensity and extensiveness of the program. The results of the present study were obtained from a relatively short treatment intervention. Evaluation of the effectiveness of contrast and positive only modelling is needed in longer term treatment programs such as workshops or courses. In those situations the effectiveness of different modelling presentation methods could be investigated at later stages of training.

It is also suggested that the present study and results are in need of replication with other populations, with measures that assess generalization in actual work settings, and with delayed posttests at longer periods than seven days.

Modelling procedures play a vital role in many training programs. Contrast modelling would appear to be one method

by which the learning that occurs from this teaching procedure can be increased.

REFERENCES

- Alssid, L.L., & Hutchison, W.R. Comparison of modeling techniques in counselor training. <u>Counselor Education</u>

 and <u>Supervision</u>, 1977, <u>17</u>, 36-41.
- Aspy, D. The effects of teacher offered conditions of empathy, congruence, and positive regard upon student achievement. Florida Journal of Educational Research, 1969, 11) 39-48.
- Bandura, A. <u>Principles of Behavior Modification</u>. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1969.
- Bandura, A. <u>Social Learning Theory</u>. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.

 Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1977.
- Barrett-Lennard, G.T. The empathy cycle: Refinement of a nuclear concept. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1981, 28, 91-100.
- Berg, K.S., & Stone, G.L. Effects of conceptual level and supervision structure on counselor skill development.

 <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1980, <u>27</u>, 500-509.
- Berliner, D. Microteaching and the technical skills approach
 to teacher training. (Tech. Rep. No. 8). Stanford, Cal.:
 Stanford Center for Research and Development in
 Teaching, 1969. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. Ed 034 707).
- Bernier, U.E. Training and supervising counselors; Lessons learned from deliberate psychological education. <u>The Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 1980, <u>58</u>, 15-20,
- Blaas, C.D., & Heck, E.J. Accuracy of accurate empathy

- ratings. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1975, <u>22</u>, 243-246.
- Calder, P. The development and evaluation of six self-instructional programmes in basic interviewing skills. Paper presented at the annual convention of the Canadian Psychological Association, Calgary, June 1980.
- Campbell, D.T., & Stanley, J.C. <u>Experimental and Quasi-experimental Designs for Research</u>. Chicago: Rand McNally, 1963.
- Carkhuff, R.R. <u>Helping and Human Relations</u>. Volume I. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1969. (a)
- Carkhuff, R.R. <u>Helping and Human Relations.</u> Volume II. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1969. (b)
- Carkhuff, R.R. & Berenson, B. <u>Beyond Counselling and Iherapy</u>. New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston, 1967.
- Chinsky, J.M., & Rappaport, J. Brief critique of the meaning and reliability of "accurate empathy" ratings.

 Psychological Bulletin, 1970, 73, 379-382.
- Cormier With Commerting self-in wetional modules for counselor training.
 - Could Jucation and Supervision, 1976, 16, 37-45.
- Bartsh & Hauer, A.L. Melping Skills: A Basic Training.
 - Program. New York: Behavioral Publications, 1973.
- Derry, P.A., & Stone, G.L. Enfects of cognitive adjunct treatments on assertiveness. <u>Cognitive Therapy and Research</u>, 1979, 3, 213-221.
- DiMattia, D.J., & Zimmer, J.M. Comparison of training

- devices for teaching emotional discrimination. Counselor Education and Supervision, 1972, 12, 17-23.
- Dixon W. & Morse, W. The prediction of teaching performance:

 Empathic potential. <u>Journal of Teacher Education</u>, 1961,

 12, 322-329.
- Eskedal, G.A. Symbolic role modeling and cognitive learning in the training of counselors. <u>Journal of Counseling</u>

 <u>Psychology</u>, 1975, <u>22</u>, 152-155.
- Eustace, J.G. Use of a language lab to teach counseling skills. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, 1980.
- Eustace, J.G. The relative effectiveness of two modeling presentation methods: A preliminary research project.

 Unpublished manuscript, University of Alberta, 1981.
- Feildstein, J. & Gladstein, G. A comparison of the construct validities of four measures of empathy. Measurement and Evaluation in Guidance, 1980, 13, 49-57.
- Flanders, J.P. A review of research on imitative behavior.

 <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 1968, 69, 316-337.
- Ford, J.D. Research on training counselors and clinicians.

 Review of Educational Research, 1979, 49, 87-130.
- Frankel, M. Effects of videotape modeling and self-confrontation techniques on microcounseling behavior. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1971, <u>18</u>, 465-471.
- Fraser, J.A. & Vitro, F. The effects of empathy training on the empathic response levels and self concepts of

- students in a teacher training program. <u>Canadian</u> <u>Counsellor</u>, 1975, <u>10</u>, 25-28.
- Glass, C.R., Gottman, J.M., & Shmurak, S.H.

 Response-acquisition and cognitive self-statement modification approaches to dating-skills training.

 <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1976, 23, 520-526.
- Gluckstern, N. Training parents as drug counselors in the community. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1973, 51, 676-680.
- Guttman, M., & Haase, R. The generalization of microcounseling skills from training period to actual counseling setting. <u>Counselor Education and Supervision</u>, 1972, 12, 98-107.
- Goud, N. Effects of empathy training on undergraduate education majors. <u>Journal of the Student Personnel</u>

 <u>Association for Teacher Education</u>, 1975, <u>13</u>, 121-127.
- Haase, R.F., & DiMattia, D.J. The application of the microcounseling paradigm to the training of support personnel in counseling. <u>Counselor Education and Supervision</u>, 1970, <u>10</u>, 16-22.
- Haase, R.F., DiMattia, D.J., & Guttman, M. Training of support personnel in three human relations skills: A systematic one year follow-up. <u>Counselor Education and Supervision</u>, 1972, <u>11</u>, 194-199.
- Harbach, R & Asbury, L. Some effects of empathic understanding on negative student behavior. <u>Humanist Educator</u>, 1976, <u>15</u>, 19-24.

- Hawn, H. Evaluation of affective performance of preservice and inservice teachers. The <u>Humanist Educator</u>, 1977, 16, 26-32.
- Horton, D., & Turnage, T.W. Human Learning. New Jersey:

 Prentice Hall, 1976.
- Honeychruch, K. Teaching empathy using a language laboratory. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, 1980.
- Ivey, A.E.: Microcounseling: Innovations in Interview

 Iraining. Springfield, Ill.: Charles C. Thomas, 1971.

 Ivey, A.E., & Authier, J. Microcounseling: Innovations in Interviewing, Counseling, Psychotherapy, and

 Psychoeducation, (2nd ed.). Springfield, Ill.: Charles C. Thomas, 1978.
- Ivey, A., & Rollin, S. A behavioral objectives curriculum in human relations: A commitment to intentionality. <u>Journal</u> of <u>Teacher Education</u>, 1972, <u>23</u>, 161-165.
- Kagan, N. <u>Influencing Human Interaction</u>. East Langsing, Mich.: Michigan State University, 1972.
- Kasdorf, J., & Gustafson, K. Research related to microtraining. In A. İvey & J. Authier, <u>Microcounseling:</u>

 <u>Innovations in Interviewing, Counseling, Psychotherapy,</u>

 <u>and Psychoeducation</u>. Springfield, Ill.: C.C. Thomas,

 1978.
- Kauffman, J.M., Hallahan, D.P., Haas, K., Brame, T.,

 Boren, R. Imitating children's errors to improve their,

 spelling performance. <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u>,

- 1978, <u>11,</u> 217-222.
- Kerrebroch, R.A. Application of the microcounseling methods using videotape recordings for the training of teachers in basic counseling techniques (Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California, 1971). <u>Dissertation Abstracts International</u>, 1971, 32, 740A. (University Microfilms No. 71-21, 470)
- Klausmeier, H.J. Cognitive operations in concept learning.

 <u>Educational Psychologist</u>, 1971, 9, 1-8.
- Kurtz, R., & Grummon, D. Different approaches to the measurement of therapist empathy and their relationship to therapy outcomes. <u>dournal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 1972, 39, 106-116.
- Lambert, M.J., DeJulio, S., & Stein, D. Therapist interpersonal skills: Process, outcome, methodological considerations, and recommendations for future research.

 Psychological Bulletin, 1978, 85, 467-489.
- Lewis, W., Lovell, J., & Jesse, B. Interpersonal relationships and pupil progress. <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 1965, <u>44</u>, 396-401.
- Luborsky, L., & Spence, D.P. Quantitati résearch on psychoanalytic therapy. In S.L. Garfield & A.E. Bergin (Eds.), <u>Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change:</u>

 An <u>Empirical Analysis</u> (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley, 1978.
- Matarazzo, R.G. Research on the teaching and learning of psychotherapeutic skills. In S.L. Garfield & A.E. Bergin

- (Eds.), <u>Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change;</u>
 An <u>Empirical Analysis</u> (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley,
 1978.
- Mervis, C, B., & Rosch, E. Categorization of natural objects.

 In M.R. Rosenzweig & L.W. Porter (Eds.), <u>Annual Review</u>

 of <u>Psychology</u> (Vol. 32). Palo Alto, Calif.: Annual

 Reviews Inc., 1981.
- Moreland, J.R., Ivey, A.E., & Phillips, J.S. An evaluation of microcounseling as an interview training tool.

 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 1973, 41, 294-300.
- Orlinsky, D.E., & Howard, K.I. The relation of process to outcome in psychotherapy. In S.L. Garfield & A.E. Bergin (Eds.), Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change:

 An Empirical Analysis (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley, 1978.
- O'Toole, W. Effects of practice and some methodological considerations in training counselor interviewing skills. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1979, 26, 419-426.
- Parloff, M.B., Waskow, I.E., & Wolfe, B.E. Research on therapist variables in relation to process and outcome.

 In S.L. Garfield & A.E. Bergin (Eds.), Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change: An Empirical Analysis (2nd ed.) New York: John Wiley, 1978.
- Perry, M.A. Modeling and instructions in training for counselor empathy. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>,

- 1975, <u>22</u>, 173-179
- Pfeiffer, J.W., Heslin, R., & Jones, J. <u>Instrumentation in Human Relations Training</u> (2nd ed.). La Jolla, California: University Associates Inc., 1976.
- Pierce, R., Carkhuff, R.R., & Berenson, B.G. The differential effects of high and low functioning counselors upon counselors in training. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 1967, 23, 212-215.
- Raskin, N.J. The psychotherapy research project of the American Academy of Psychotherapists. American

 Psychologist, 1965, 20, 547. (Abstract)
- Richardson, B., & Stone, G. Effects of a cognitive adjunct procedure within a microtraining situation. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1981, <u>28</u>, 168-175.
- Robinson, S.E., Froehle, T.C., & Kurpius, D.J. Effects of sex of model and media of model presentation in skill development of counselor trainees. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1979, <u>26</u>, 74-80. (a)
- Robinson, S.E., Froehle, T.C., & Kurpius, D.J.,
 Self-instructional modules: Comparison of modeling and
 feedback media. <u>Counselor Education and Supervision</u>,
 1979, <u>26</u>, 251-259. (b)
- Rogers, C.R. The necessary and sufficient conditions of therapeutic personality change. <u>Journal of Consulting</u>

 Psychology, 1957; 21, 95-103.
- Rogers, C.R. <u>Freedom to Learn</u>. Columbus, Ohio: C.E. Merrill, 1969.

- Rosch, E., & Mervis, C.B. Family resemblances: Studies in the internal structure of categories. <u>Cognitive</u>

 <u>Psychology</u>, 1975, <u>7</u>, 573-605.
- Rosenthal, T., & Bandura, A. Psychological modeling: Theory and practice. In S.L. Garfield & A.E. Bergin (Eds.),

 Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change: An

 Empirical Analysis (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley,
 1978.
- Spooner, B.F., & Stone, S.C. Maintenance of specific counseling skills over time. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 1977, <u>24</u>, 66-71.
- Stone, G.L. A <u>Cognitive-Behavioral Approach to Counseling</u>

 <u>Psychology</u>. New York: Praeger, 1980.
- Sweeney, J., Austin, J., & Engel, R., Human Relations

 Training: The effects of methodology. <u>The Alberta</u>

 <u>Journal of Educational Research</u>, 1981, <u>27</u>, 176-180.
- Tennyson, R.D. Effect of negative instances in concept acquisition using a verbal learning task. <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, 1973, <u>64</u>, 247-260.
- Tennyson, R.D., & Park, O. The teaching of concept: A review of instructional design and research literature. Review of Educational Research, 1980, 30, 55-70.
- Thelen, M., Fry, R., Fehrenbach, P., & Frautschi, N.

 Therapeutic videotape and film modeling: A review.

 Psychological Bulletin, 1979, 86, 701-720.
- Truax, C.B., & Carkhuff, R.R. <u>Toward Effective</u> <u>Counseling</u> and <u>Psychotherapy: Training and Practice</u>. Chicago:

Aldine, 1967.

Wilmarth, R., Moracco, J., & Valine, W., The effect of response and presentation modes on trainees' responses.

<u>Counsellor Education and Supervision</u>, 1982, <u>22</u>, 162-172.

Appendix I.

Rating Scale Information

The following scoring guide is to be used in conjunction with the Carkhuff (1969a,b) <u>Empathic Understanding in Interpersonal Processes: A Scale for Measurement</u>.

LEVEL TYPES OF RESPONSES

- 1: Responses at this level do not reflect feelings.

 Content may, only vaguely be reflected.

 Feeling may be misinterpreted.
 - The response may be irrelevant.

 The helper may focus the conversation on him/herself.
- 2. Responses may give a poor reflection of feeling.

 Feeling may be neglected and only content reflected.

 The true feeling may be reflected vaguely, distorted, or misinterpreted.

The helper may give advice.

3. Responses reflect general feeling and content.

Responses are at approximately the same level as they student statement neither adding nor subtracting from it.

The response is not sensitive to finer distinctions.

There may be a "direction" implied in the response.

4. Responses reflect the true feeling and content not verbalized by the student.

The response is sensitive to finer distinctions. The response does not turn the conversation in a

particular direction.

5. The response captures the total feeling spoken and implied.
The response clarifies the true feeling.

The response demonstrates that the helper is with the student and feels what they feel

The response leads them into a deeper exploration of the problem:

Appendix II

Transcript of the Contrast Program

The program you are about to hear uses a unique approach to teach communication skills. It is unique in that you will be able to practice the skills yourself while listening to the program. In doing this you will be a participant not just a listener.

You will be learning a particular skill used by professional interviewers, psychologists, school counsellors, and other individuals in the helping professions who deal with people. This is a particularly useful skill for teachers to have when students come to them for help. This skill is one of a number of skills that can help you in communicating with others.

The purpose of this program is to teach you how to respond to a person in such a way that you reflect the content and feelings of their statement to you. By responding in this way, you will demonstrate to the person that you have accurately heard them and that you understand their feelings. This communication skill is called empathy. When used appropriately this skill can help you relate better to students and even help maintain discipline in the classroom.

The program that follows takes about 20 minutes. Listen carefully and follow along with the exercise. You are about to hear a student and teacher talking. Statements have been taken out of the context of the conversation to demonstrate

empathic responding. The teacher will respond to the student's statement with two responses. His first response is a bad example of an empathic response; he then corrects himself and makes a good empathic response. Notice how the bad example disregards the feeling and the content of the student's statement whereas the good example accurately reflects the feeling and content of the statement. Later you will be asked to make similar types of responses. Remember, the teacher will give both a bad and a good example of the empathic responses.

Statements

- 1. It seems like people have been ignoring me lately.
- 2. I don't know why it is but I haven't been able to get down to work lately.
- 3. Classes are so boring.
- 4. I tried really hard on this assignment and I still failed.
- 5. I just don't want to talk about sex.
- 6. I get so worked up at exam time that I blow the test completely.

- 7. Its not fair, why do I always have to stay in at noon.
- 8. How can a person pick a career these days when jobs are changing so fast and there are so many to choose from.

Comment

In the good examples of empathic responding the teacher attempted to stay with the student, capturing the content and feeling of the student's statements. Note how this empathic understanding leads the student into a deeper exploration of her problem. It demonstrates a recognition of her feelings and problems.

Notice how in the worst of the bad examples the teacher disregards or ignores the student's problem focusing only on his own needs. These responses have the effect of: belittling the student's problem, changing the subject, or forcing the teacher's own opinions on the student. In other bad examples the teacher only reflects the content of the statement, or worse, tries to make the student feel better by giving advice. Giving advice is not always the best way to help someone. Examples like these are often found in everyday speech. Here are a few more examples of bad and good responses.

9. Do you think I will ever get out of this mess?

- 10. I think most people don't really like me, they just tolerate having me around,
- 11. I Weally like Mr. Brown, he was the best instructor I've had:
- 12. I don't know about my courses this semester; I've missed so many classes, it's too late to catch up.
- 13. I wish these exams were over already!
- 14. How come we're always treated like children?
- 15. I often get an uncontrollable urge to steal.
- 16. I spent hours on this assignment and it's still a piece of junk.

Comment

Now that you know the difference between good responses and poor responses we will focus on practicing good empathic responses. You will hear a series of student statements. After each one there will be a 15 second pause during which time you are to make a good empathic response to what the student has said. After you have been given time to make your response you will hear a good response that the teacher

has made. Compare your response to the teacher's. Yours may be better. Remember to concentrate on giving empathic responses, capturing the total meaning and feelings of what has been said.

Practice Statements

- 1. It's hard always being the new kid in school.
- 2. Nobody will play with me at recess.
- 3. I don't know what I am going to do in the future; There are so many things!
- 4. With the way the world is going it's hardly worth training for a job.
- 5. I've been looking foward to going into high school but now the time has come I'm not so sure.
- 6. All these changes happening so fast make me uptight
- 7. I always feel sick just before I go on a date.
- 8. This subject is so stupid; what's the use of studying it anyway?

Posttest

The program will end with you being given the chance to respond to six student statements. Try to do as good a job as possible as your response will demonstrate how well you have mastered this skill. Remember, try to respond with empathic understanding to each of the six different student statements.

- 1. This stuff we are doing doesn't make any sense.
- 2. My parents are never home to help me with my homework.
- 3. I'm so glad, we have 10 whole days without school.
- 4. My parents have all these plans for me for when I finish school but I'm not so sure.
- 5. I really hate Mrs. Smith after what happened this morning.
 - 6. No matter what I do I can never get above a 50% average.

That's the end of the program, please now complete the written questions.

DELAYED POSTTEST

Thank you for returning to complete this study. This section will take approximately 15 minutes of your time all together. To start with you will be asked to demonstrate your empathy communication skills by responding to six student statements in the same way that you did before. Try to make good empathic responses that reflect the essence of the student's statements. Here is the first statement.

- 1. I often think of just quitting school.
- 2. Our year end party was just the greatest.
- 3. I'm never going to speak to my boyfriend again.
- 4. I can't wait until I finish school and get a job.
- 5. In school I never get time to myself.
- 6. I always seem to just miss making it on to the team.

That's all. Please shut off the tape-recorder and complete the paper and pencil questions if you have not already done so.

Appendix III

Debriefing Information

The purpose of this study was to investigate different ways of presenting material in self instructional programs. There were three different ways of presenting material that were investigated: (group a) some participants had a taped program in which only good examples of the empathy skill being taught was demonstrated, (group b) some participants had a taped program in which both good and bad examples of empathic responding were demonstrated, (group c) some participants had a taped program in which only bad examples of empathic responding were demonstrated, (they had to figure out what a good empathic response was), (group d) some people did not get a program at all, just the tests and measures that were used.

In regular teaching situations instructors usually just give good examples of the skill or material being taught, as in group (a). However, some research has demonstrated that giving both good and bad examples increases understanding. These researchers argue that having both good and bad examples provides the learner with more information and allows him or her to discriminate. Thus, in this study, group (b) should do better than group (a).

If giving bad examples provides the learner with more information then a learner with just bad examples should dobetter than a learner with no examples at all. Therefore group (c) should do better than group (d). This study was

103

designed to investigate this issue.

Appendix IV

Conceptual Tests: Forms A and B

Discrimination of Responses FORM A

In the following test there are six student statements. Each is followed by four possible teacher responses. In each case pick out the best empathic response of the four and write a number 1 beside its letter on the answer sheet. Next choose the worst empathic response and place a number 4 beside its letter on the answer sheet. From the remaining two responses choose the best empathic response and write a 2 beside its letter. Write a 3 beside the letter of the remaining response, (in other words rank the four responses). Here is the first response.

1.

With the way things went last year I don't know if I can handle the academic program.

- a. Well why don't you give it a try and then if you don't like it you can switch.
- b. I get the feeling you didn't work as hard as you could last year and now you are afraid the same thing might happen in the academic program.
- ittile unsure and worried about your ability to succeed in the academic program.

d. Perhaps you should consider the vocational program.

It is a lot better for getting jobs these days anyway.

I like to hang around with those guys but I don't like some of the things that they do. γ

- a. Some of the things they do I wouldn't like to do either.
- b. The activities they want to do are not acceptable to you, is that it?
- c. So you have some mixed up feelings right now because you want to be friends with them but you don't want to share in some of their activities.
- d. Hmm, that's too bad, maybe they will change if you work on them.

3.

Speaking in class makes me very up-tight.

- a. The thought of all those people watching you really makes you nervous and unsure of yourself.
- b. You get so nervous you just can't speak, is that it?
- c. Don't worry, we all experience those feelings sometimes and they go away after a while.
- d. Yes! I have that problem too.

It seems like everybody has plans for me; my parents, my teachers, my friends, everybody--but I don't know what I want to do.

- a. Perhaps you could try standing up for yourself and asserting your own wishes.
- b. You resent having other people make your plans for you and yet you are feeling lost about your own directions.
- c. I know-how you feel, I have thirty people who all want different things from me!
- d. You are feeling pushed around from people around you and this is preventing you from making your own decisions.

5

It's ridiculous! Everything has to be done when he wants to do it and the way he wants it done.

- a. It makes you furious that it's so one-sided, you would like to call the shots.
- b. It really angers you that you have no say in the matter.
- c. I know, I find him the same way, he's a real dictator.
- d. Why don't you let him know how it makes you feel.

I finally found someone who I can get along with and who accepts me for what I am.

- a. Sounds like the type of person you would want to hang on to.
- b. That's a really good feeling to have someone to trust and share with:
- c. That's great, sounds Tike you found someone who you can really call a friend.
- d. I am really happy for you; I wish I could find somebody like that.

Discrimination of Responses FORM B

In the following test there are six student statements. Each is followed by four possible teacher responses. In each case pick out the best empathic response of the four and write a number 1 beside its letter on the answer sheet. Next choose the worst empathic response and place a number 4 beside its letter on the answer sheet. From the remaining two responses choose the best empathic response and write a 2 beside its letter. Write a 3 beside the letter of the remaining response, (in other words rank the four responses). Here is the first response.

1

I decided to come and talk to you but now that I'm here I don't know how to start.

- a. It's intimidating to tell your concerns to someone else.
- b. Well I'll start off then by telling you a few things
 I think you would be interested in.
- easier.
- d. You are finding it kind of embarrasing talking to someone about your concerns and that's holding you back.

2

I don't know how my new step-mother and I are going to get along.

- a. Sounds like you are starting off negatively already.
- b. I am sure it will turn out just fine.
- c. You are very worried that things will not turn out between the the two of you.
- d. It's a new relationship and you are a little anxious about how it will go.

3

I am really disgusted with myself, nothing I try turns out right.

- Try looking of the bright side, things aren't that bad.
- b. It sounds like you are not having much success lately and that is getting you down.
- c. Things have really been going badly for you.
- d. You too? I have been having the worst luck lately.

This is the first time I have had all my assignments finished before the deadline.

- a. You must feel pretty good about being ahead of the game.
- b. Sounds like you have changed your work habits, good for you.
- c. Don't tell me about it, I have loads of work still to do.
- d. That must be a real boost to your ego to be caught up in your work.

5 :

My parents are so Figid; they just don't understand me.

- a. It sounds like you are pretty angry at your parents for being so strict.
- b. It's frustrating that your parents won't see your point of view.
- c. Have you tried talking to them about the problem?

 That's always a good place to start.
- d. They probably do understand you, they are just worried about you.

6

I am going to try hard this year to raise my grade point average.

- a. It sounds like you are looking foward to the challenge of working for better grades.
- b. I always tell myself that but it never works out.
- c. You want to get a higher average this year.
- d. That's good that you want to get better grades.